
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 
DENA LEWIS-BYSTRZYCKI, 
 
  Plaintiff, 

 
 

 
 v. 

 
No.   2012 L 009916 
 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, CARL 
PYCZ, JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 
AGPAWA, 

 
          Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath 

 
  Defendants. 

 
 

 
PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF SANCTIONS FOR  

DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS AND SPOLIATION 
 

Plaintiff Dena Lewis-Bystrzycki, through her undersigned counsel, respectfully submits this 

Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions for Defendants’ discovery 

violations and spoliation pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 219. Default judgment, or 

other comparable sanctions, should be entered against Defendants due to Defendants’ repeated 

discovery violations and spoliation. In support, Plaintiff states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

Default and sanctions are warranted as Defendants have committed repeated discovery 

violations and failed to comply with this Court’s numerous orders, which have required Plaintiff 

to spend an exorbitant amount of time and attorneys’ fees chasing compliance by Defendants. 

Furthermore, evidence has been permanently lost as Defendants intentionally destroyed evidence 

despite knowledge that they had a duty to preserve evidence and that the evidence was related to 

this litigation. Because evidence that would have supported Plaintiff’s claims is permanently lost 

as a result of Defendants’ actions and inactions, default judgment should be entered against 

Defendants, and other sanctions, including Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs in having to file 

this motion and pursue Defendants’ compliance with the Court’s discovery orders.  
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BACKGROUND OF DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS 

Sanctions are warranted in this case as Defendants have repeatedly violated this Court’s 

discovery orders. This is not the first sanctions motion in this case. Sanctions were first granted 

back in April 2013 for Defendants’ failure to appear and answer Plaintiff’s complaint within the 

time requirements. Defendants have continued this dilatory behavior when it comes to 

responding to Plaintiff’s discovery requests and in failing to comply with this Court’s numerous 

discovery orders. The history of Defendants’ discovery violations in this case has resulted in a 

delay of over two years, the trial in this matter getting moved three times, over 30 court 

appearances, countless motions trying to obtain compliance from Defendants, including for 

sanctions and contempt since August 2015. Furthermore, Defendants had notice of their 

obligations to preserve evidence in this matter and despite this knowledge, intentionally 

destroyed or altered evidence necessary and relevant to Plaintiff’s claims. 

Some of the relevant history is as follows:  

1. A trial date in this matter was set for October 2015. (Exhibit 1, April order setting trial 

date.) On June 2, 2015 Plaintiff filed a supplemental complaint. Shortly thereafter, in July 2015, 

Plaintiff issued a second set of discovery requests. (Exhibit 2, Pl’s 2nd Disc. Requests.) These 

requests sought, among other things, emails relating to specified search terms, investigations into 

Plaintiff’s complaints, and comparator information. (Id.)  

2. On July 11, 2015, Plaintiff issued an amended notice of inspection. (Exhibit 3, Notice of 

Inspection). The notice sought to inspect: 

(1) All firehouses in person and by video and/or photographic means;  
(2) The computers for inspection and imaging using Encase Forensic software by 

Guidance Software or other comparable software, which located in (a) the classroom 
at Station 1, (b) the middle office across from the bathroom at Station 1, (c) the 
paramedic writing room computer at Station 2, and (d) the computer in the hallway 
by the engineers’ office at Station 2; and  

(3) The Televisions and cable boxes located in both Stations.  
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Id. The notice also provided the following WARNING: 
 
This notice of inspection requires Defendants and Defendants’ agents and 
employees to not alter in any way, shape, or form, any of the areas, documents, data, 
contents, and information to be inspected. 
 

Id.  
 
3. On August 13, 2015, Plaintiff filed a motion to compel Defendants’ answers to her 

second set of discovery requests. (Exhibit 4, Motion to Compel). In response to Plaintiff’s 

motion to compel, Defendants produced documents that had clearly been in Defendants’ 

possession for years and were responsive to Plaintiff’s first set of discovery requests. On August 

24, 2015, Plaintiff filed another motion to compel and for discovery sanctions based on 

Defendants’ failure to timely supplement their production to Plaintiff’s first discovery requests 

and also based on deposition testimony from Defendants that they never searched emails for 

responsive documents. (Exhibit 5, 8/24/15 Motion to Compel and for Disc. Sanctions). Plaintiff’s 

motions to compel were granted, but sanctions were denied at that point. (Exhibit 6, 8/27/15 

Orders). 

4. On September 1, 2015, Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint. On September 4, 

2015, Defendants filed a motion to continue the trial date claiming “ongoing investigation” of 

Plaintiff’s allegations. Plaintiff objected to Defendants’ motion to continue the trial date citing 

Defendants’ delay throughout this case. (Exhibit 7, 9/14/15 Pl’s Response to Def’s Motion to 

Move Trial). By agreement of the parties, and to avoid prejudice to Plaintiff, the trial date was 

continued to April 11, 2016. (Exhibit 8, 9/16/15 Orders).  

5. On November 2, 2015, this Court ordered that Defendants search and produce electronic 

documents and emails by December 1, 2015. (Exhibit 9, 11/2/15 Order).  

6. On February 17, 2016, Defendants ran CCleaner on computer “6RW2GZ36,” which was 

the subject of Plaintiff’s notice of inspection. (See Exhibit 10, Expert Report (without exhibits).) 
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7. On April 6, 2016, Plaintiff filed a second motion to compel and for discovery sanctions 

due to Defendants’ failure to provide email search terms and Defendants’ failure to comply with 

various outstanding discovery requests. (Exhibit 11, 4/6/16 Motion to Compel.)  

8. On April 22, 2016, the Court entered an Order stating in part: 

(1) Defendants will comply within 14 days, by May 6, 2016, with ¶¶ 4, 5, 9, 11, 12, 13, 
15, 17, 28 (produce all documents re: investigation of pornography), 33, and to the extent 
documents do not exist provide declaration(s), as stated on the record (see transcript); (2) 
Plaintiff’s Motion as to computer inspection of emails/documents is entered and 
continued; Defendants’ counsel, IT, Plaintiff’s counsel, and Forensic expert will 
conference call in next 7 days, by April 29, 2016 and Parties will discuss search terms; 
(3) As to 206 Depositions, the parties will confer by April 29, 2016 and Parties will 
confer by April 29, 2016; (4) As to Plaintiff’s request for forensic inspection of 
computers re: pornography, Defendants to respond to motion by April 29, 2016, 
Plaintiff’s reply by May 6, 2016, courtesy copies by May 9, 2016 at 9:45 am; (5) Hearing 
on the remaining items in motion on May 20, 2016; (6) Defendants’ oral motion to 
compel Plaintiff’s deposition, granted, limited to 2 hours; (7) Defendants’ motion to 
quash FOIA granted without prejudice as Defendants to produce per motion to compel ¶ 
4.  
 

(Exhibit 12, 4/22/16 Order.)  

9. On May 11, 2016, Defendants again ran CCleaner on computer “6RW2GZ36,” despite 

the fact that it was the subject of Plaintiff’s notice of inspection and at issue in this litigation. 

(See Exhibit 10.)  

10. On or about June 14, 2016, Country Club Hills upgraded the computers that were the 

subject of this litigation and Plaintiff’s notice of inspection. (See Exhibit 10.) 

11. On June 24, 2016, the Court entered the following Order: 
 
(1) Plaintiff’s 2nd Motion to Compel and Sanctions entered and continued for hearing on 
July 29, 2016 at 9:45 am on all issues and inspection of computers for pornography; (2) 
Defendants to answer questions from Forensic Examiner within 14 days, by July 8, 2016; (3) 
Defendants to produce courtesy copy of Plaintiff’s 3rd day of deposition on July 25, 2016 at 
9:00 am Clerks Status. 
 

(Exhibit 13, 6/24/16 Order.) 

12. On July 19, 2016, Plaintiff filed a third motion for discovery sanctions. This motion 

addressed Defendants’ failure to comply with the Court’s June 24, 2016 Order requiring 
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Defendants to answer the questions from Plaintiff’s forensic expert. (Exhibit 14, 7/19/16 Motion 

for Sanctions.) 

13. On July 25, 2016, Defendants ran Disk Defragmenter on computer “6RW2GZ36,” which 

was the subject to Plaintiff’s notice of inspection and at issue in this litigation. (See Exhibit 10.) 

14. On July 27, 2016, Deputy Chief Robert Kopec sent an email to CCH employees advising 

them that two computers were going to be replaced and to copy any data before they are taken 

out of service identified as computer “WCATR1278977” and “WCATR1278977.” (See Exhibit 

10.)  That day Wayne Werosh removed the two computers from service from the “training room” 

(the “room across from the bathroom”) described by the plaintiff in the notice of inspection, and 

as being some of the computers used to surf pornography. (See Exhibit 10.)  

15. On August 1, 4, 11, and 14, 2016 Disk Defragmenter was run on computer 

“WCATR1278977,” which was the subject of Plaintiff’s notice of inspection and at issue in this 

litigation. (See Exhibit 10.) 

16. On August 8, 2016 Disk Defragmenter was run on computer “6RW2GZ36,” which was 

the subject of Plaintiff’s notice of inspection and at issue in this litigation. (See Exhibit 10.)  

17. On August 12, 2016, Defendants finally answered Plaintiff’s computer forensic expert’s 

questions regarding Defendants’ email and computer servers pursuant to the Court’s 6/24/16 

Order (Exhibit 13). The questions were based off of Defendant’s designee’s representations as to 

Defendants’ email and computer system and servers. Defendants failed to identify the Network 

Attached Storage system that was later discovered by Plaintiff (see ¶ 19 below).  

18. On this very same day, August 12, 2016, Defendants ran Disk Cleanup on computer 

“WCATR1278977,” which was the subject of Plaintiff’s notice of inspection and at issue in this 

litigation. (See Exhibit 10.) 
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19. On August 21, 2016, Wayne Werosh, IT Consultant for Country Club Hills, wiped the 

drives on the Network Attached Storage system, which holds backups and fire station files and is 

used as a fileserver for electronically stored information (ESI) for the Fire Department, 

containing electronic documents that were the subject of this litigation. Defendants wiped the 

fileserver of all of its data. (See Exhibit 10.) Plaintiff did not learn of this spoliation until 

Werosh’s deposition on March 14, 2017.  

20. On August 31, 2016 the Court granted Plaintiff’s Second Motion to Compel as to the 

imaging of the four computers identified in the notice of inspection. The Court denied Plaintiff’s 

3rd Motion for Sanctions without prejudice at that time. (Exhibit 15, 8/31/16 Order.) During the 

hearing, the Court stated:  

After reviewing everything, I am granting the second motion to compel regarding 
plaintiff's request for a forensic examination regarding those computers in the classroom 
at station one, the middle office across from the bathroom at station one, the paramedic 
writing room computer at station two and the computer in the hallway by the engineer's 
office at station two. After reading the depositions, I have concluded this isn't a fishing 
expedition.  The plaintiff was not wholly unable to come up with (inaudible) that she 
witnessed fellow employees watching porn. The problem is according to her the porn 
watching was pervasive. So, for example, every time she would worked with Larry, I 
don’t know how to pronounce it, Giseppe --Giseppe? he was watching porn. And that 
applied to Mr. Marcus 65 percent of the time and Mr. Boyd 50 percent of the time. Again 
that is according to her testimony. When I couple that testimony with the defendants’ 
witnesses’ testimony that they admit witnessing firefighters watching porn or watching 
porn themselves, I conclude that the forensic examination requested may lead to 
discoverable evidence and does not constitute a fishing expedition. 
 

(Exhibit 16, Transcript 14:14-15:15.)   

21. On January 16, 2017, Defendants refused Plaintiff’s Expert access to forensically image 

computers at Fire Stations, despite the Court’s order.  

22. As a result, Plaintiff filed a motion for sanctions. (Exhibit 17, Motion for Sanctions.) 

23. On January 23, 2017, the Court entered the following Order: 

This Matter coming to be heard on Plaintiff’s motion for sanctions for violations of the 
Court’s Order regarding inspection of computer for pornographic material, it is hereby 
ordered: (1) Plaintiff’s motion is granted; (2) Inspection/imaging will proceed on January 
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26, 2017 at 10:00 am by agreement; (3)Plaintiff’s request for reimbursement of experts 
time and expenses is granted. Plaintiff to provide detailed invoice of time and hourly rate 
by January 30, 2017; (4) Defendants objections to protocol are waived because not raised 
in a timely manner; (5) Status set for February 6, 2017 at 9:45 am. 
 

(Exhibit 18, 1/23/17 Order.) 

24. On January 26, 2017, Plaintiff’s forensic Expert imaged the Defendants’ computers 

pursuant to the Court Order. As to 2 of the 4 computers, Defendants, in the presence of their 

counsel, directed Plaintiff’s Expert to the wrong computers to be imaged because Defendants had 

removed the computers to be serviced and did not advise Plaintiff’s expert or Plaintiff’s counsel. 

25. After Defendants’ delay in carrying out the Court’s previous Orders, the Court entered 

the following Order on February 6, 2017:  

(1) The ESI/email imaging/retrieval shall occur within 45 days, by March 23, 2017; (2) 
Defendants represents they filed a motion for protective order – briefing set per separate 
order; (3) Next status to be held at the hearing on the motion for protective order. 
 

(Exhibit 19, 2/6/17 Order.) 

26. On February 16, 2017, Plaintiff filed an emergency motion to preserve ESI and imaging 

based on evidence of spoliation. This motion addressed Defendants’ deliberate conduct in having 

someone wipe the hard drives and reload the operating system of the very same computers the 

Court ordered be imaged. (Exhibit 20, 2/16/17 Motion.) It was later discovered on March 14, 

2017 during Werosh’s deposition that Defendants replaced these computers with two new 

computers making it look like the hard drives were “wiped.” 

27. On February 17, 2017, the Court entered the following Order, in part:  

It is further ordered: Plaintiff’s motion is granted, in part. The imaging of Defendants email 
servers and google email drive shall occur before 12:00 noon on February 18, 2017 (Sat) 
with Defendants IT consultant Brent Sachnoff w/ BES Industries present. Brent Sachnoff 
will monitor the imaging and ensure all details preserved until further Order of the Court. 
 

(Exhibit 21, 2/17/17 Order.) 
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28. On February 17, 2017, When Plaintiff’s expert arrived to conduct the imaging of the 

emails, Defendants initially refused to allow him to image the email servers.  

29. On February 21, 2017, the Court entered the following Order:   

This matter coming before the Court on Plaintiff’s emergency motion for contempt of the 
Court’s 2/17/17 Order, the motion is denied, however: (1) Plaintiff’s forensic expert and 
Defendants’ IT consultant will arrange for Plaintiff’s forensic expert to confirm that the 
list of 44 custodians from 2/6/17 list were preserved by Friday, February 24, 2017; (2) 
Defendants are ordered to preserve all data on all City computers and email that may be 
relevant to the case and spoliation and will issue a litigation hold letter to all employees 
of City; (3) February 27, 2017 court date to stand.  
 

(Exhibit 22, 2/21/17 Order.) 

30. On March 14, 2017, During Werosh’s deposition it was discovered that two of the four 

computers subject to Plaintiff’s notice of inspection had been set aside by Werosh because they 

were taken out of service. Werosh testified that he put evidence tags on them and told the Chief, 

the Deputy Chief, and Rudy Maybell, Defendants’ IT director, to preserve the computers because 

of this litigation. After Werosh’s deposition, Plaintiff’s counsel emailed Defendants’ counsel, 

advising Defendants’ counsel that she would be filing a motion for sanctions seeking default 

judgment based on Defendants’ failure to produce the computers despite Plaintiff’s notice of 

inspection and despite this Court’s order requiring the imaging of those computers. Defendants’ 

counsel for the first time in response to this email disclosed that the two computers were in a 

storage closet, and he would make them available for imaging. Defendants’ counsel was present, 

as well as the Chief, the Deputy Chief, and Maybell when Plaintiff’s expert arrived to image the 

computers. Defendants’ counsel, the Chief, the Deputy Chief, and Maybell each took part in 

directing Plaintiff’s expert to two computers that they knew were not the computers that the 

Court ordered to be imaged. All of them failed to direct Plaintiff’s expert to the actual computers 

that were ordered by the Court to be imaged, despite knowing that those computers had been 
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placed in the storage closet as Defendants put them there. Defendants’ only disclosed the 

existence of these computers after they got caught in their “bait and switch.” 

31. In addition to the above, even though the computers were taken out of service, 

Defendants still ran disk clean up and disk wipe on these computers, thus destroying evidence 

that was relevant to Plaintiff’s claims, including internet history containing evidence of 

pornographic material viewed by male employees. Defendants want to now claim that there is 

little evidence that male employees were viewing pornographic material while Plaintiff actually 

worked; however, such evidence would have been destroyed by a disk cleanup and disk wipe 

programs that were run on these computers.  

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

I. Sanctions Are Warranted for Defendants’ Destruction of Evidence 

Defendants have been on notice since April 2012 during the administrative process before 

the Illinois Department of Human Rights that they were under an obligation to preserve 

evidence. As shown above, Defendants failed to take reasonable measures to preserve ESI for 

imaging. Defendants also took affirmative steps to modify, overwrite, or delete data stored on 

computers. Defendants intentionally engaged in subterfuge to have Plaintiffs analyze the wrong 

computers. Defendants accomplished the destruction of the data while delaying and violating the 

Court’s numerous orders compelling production of the data. Plaintiff has been attempting to get 

the imaging of Defendants’ server(s) and email accounts pursuant to the Court’s order granting 

Plaintiff’s motion to compel since April 2016. Defendants have continually stalled and delayed 

in the production of their ESI and emails, despite the Court’s order compelling the imaging and 

production. Defendants also failed to disclose the existence of their Network Attached Storage 

(“NAS”) drive. Defendants wiped the NAS drive on August 21, 2016, despite Defendants’ 
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obligation to preserve the information contained on their servers pursuant to their discovery 

obligations and the Court’s orders.   

Discovery is intended to be a mechanism for the ascertainment of the truth, for the purpose of 

promoting either a fair settlement or a fair trial. Ostendorf v. International Harvester Co., 89 Ill. 

2d 273, 282, 433 N.E.2d 253 (1982). It is not a tactical game to be used to obstruct or harass the 

opposing litigant. Id. Disclosure requirements are mandatory and subject to strict compliance by 

the parties. Sullivan v. Edward Hospital, 209 Ill.2d 100, 109 (2004). As this Court is well aware, 

the Illinois Supreme Court has routinely repeated that its rules are not mere suggestions. They 

are not aspirational. They have the force of law, and should be adhered to as written. Bright v. 

Dicke, 166 Ill.2d 204, 210 (1995). 

In Illinois, Supreme Court Rule 201(b) was amended to include the definition of 

Electronically Stored Information (hereinafter “ESI”). ESI shall include: “any writings, 

drawings, graphs, charts, photographs, sound recordings, images, and other data or data 

compilations in any medium from which electronically stored information can be obtained either 

directly or, if necessary, after translation by the responding party into a reasonably usable form.” 

Supreme Court Rule 219 is sufficient to cover sanction issues as they relate to electronic 

discovery. Ill. S. Ct. R. 219, Committee Comment (adopted May 29, 2014).  

Discovery sanctions are appropriate when a party unreasonably fails to comply with the rules 

of discovery and orders regarding pretrial discovery. See Ill. S. Ct. R. 219; see also Garofalo v. 

General Motors, Corp., 103 Ill. App. 2d 389, 395 (1st Dist. 1968) (case was dismissed for 

unresponsive and evasive answers to interrogatories). Defendants’ conduct must be sanctioned 

because as discussed below, their discovery violations were unreasonable. 
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II. Defendants’ Bad Faith Actions Warrant Default As A Sanction 

Sanctions under Rule 219 include awarding reasonable expenses, attorney fees, barring 

evidence or arguments, permitting adverse inferences, and dismissing claims or entering default 

judgment. See Ill. S. Ct. R. 219(c). The court may further, upon motion or upon its own 

initiative, impose upon the offending party or his attorney, or both, an appropriate sanction, 

which may include an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of reasonable 

expenses incurred as a result of the misconduct, including a reasonable attorney fees, and when 

the misconduct is willful, a monetary penalty.  Id. 

Illinois Supreme Court Rule 219(c) grants the circuit court the discretion to impose a 

sanction, including default judgment, upon any party who unreasonably refuses to comply with 

any discovery rule or any order entered pursuant to such rule. Kambylis v. Ford Motor Co., 338 

Ill. App. 3d 788, 793 (2003); see also Shelbyville Mut. Ins. Co. v. Sunbeam Leisure Prod. Co., 

262 Ill. App. 3d 636, 643 (1994); Sander v. Dow Chemical Co., 166 Ill. 2d 48, 61–63, 65–67 

(1995). The circuit court has inherent authority to dismiss a cause of action with prejudice for 

failure to comply with court orders where the record shows deliberate and continuing disregard 

for the court’s authority. Sander, 166 Ill. 2d at 67. Rule 219 not only allows discretion for those 

acts in which the party intentionally and purposefully destroyed evidence, but also where 

evidence was negligently destroyed. See Farley Metals, Inc. v. Barber Colman Co., 269 Ill. App. 

3d 104, 109 (1994). 

The Illinois Supreme Court has found that a default judgment under Ill. S. Ct. R. 219(c) was 

appropriate where a party’s actions show a deliberate, contumacious or unwarranted disregard of 

the court’s authority. See Peal v. Lee, 403 Ill. App. 3d 197, 203 (2010); see also Graves v. Daley, 

172 Ill. App. 3d 35, 39 (1988) (“This is not a case where the evidence was innocently or 

negligently destroyed. In the instant case the plaintiffs willingly caused the furnace to be 
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destroyed with [the insurance carrier’s] approval.”). The factors a trial court is to use in 

determining what sanction to apply are: (1) the surprise to the adverse party; (2) the prejudicial 

effect of the proffered testimony or evidence; (3) the nature of the testimony or evidence; (4) the 

diligence of the adverse party in seeking discovery; (5) the timeliness of the adverse party’s 

objection to the testimony or evidence; and (6) the good faith of the party offering the testimony 

or evidence. See Peal, 403 Ill. App. 3d at 203; see also Vaughn v. Northwest Memorial Hospital, 

210 Ill. App. 3d 253, 259-60 (1991). As will be shown below, Defendants were in a position to 

comply with the Court’s orders, but acted in bad faith when they failed to take reasonable 

measures to preserve ESI for imaging. Defendants also took affirmative steps to modify, 

overwrite, or delete data stored on computers. Defendants intentionally engaged in subterfuge to 

have Plaintiff’s expert analyze and image the wrong computers, until they got caught, and only 

then did they disclose the computers existence. Defendants accomplished the destruction of the 

data while delaying and violating the Court’s numerous orders compelling production. 

In this case, there is surprise to Plaintiff that Defendants would engage in such conduct to 

delay and ignore multiple court orders, require the filing of multiple motions for sanctions in 

order to achieve compliance, deleting files with data-wiping programs, and deceiving Plaintiff’s 

expert as to the computers that were to be inspected. In Peal, the Court found surprise in similar 

circumstances, stating: “the real surprise is that a litigant would have the audacity to discard his 

old hard drive and delete tens of thousands of electronic files with sophisticated data-wiping 

programs and then cry foul that his opponents should not be surprised. This sounds like the story 

of the children who murdered their parents and then pled for sympathy as orphans.” 403 Ill. App. 

3d at 205. Moreover, Plaintiff only found out about the destruction of court ordered evidence 

through Plaintiff’s expert.  
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Here, the prejudicial effect of the evidence is evident in that there is ample deposition 

testimony that pornography was reviewed continuously, by multiple male employees. However, 

Defendants’ actions of deleting, overwriting, and modifying the computer data have caused 

evidence supporting Plaintiff’s claims to be forever lost, not only of the nature, extent, and 

timeframes of the pornographic material being viewed, but other ESI that was contained on 

Defendants’ NAS drive and other computers that were wiped. Furthermore, Defendants’ 

discovery violations have prejudiced Plaintiff in causing a delay of over two years, the trial in 

this matter getting moved three times, over 30 court appearances, and countless motions trying to 

obtain compliance from Defendants, including for sanctions and contempt since August 2015. In 

addition, Defendants delay, destruction, and failure to comply with this Court’s discovery orders 

has cost Plaintiff hundreds of thousands of dollars in fees and expenses. The nature of the 

evidence is that the Court has already determined that the discovery of the internet searches and 

searches of Defendants’ ESI in compliance with their discovery obligations is relevant, pursuant 

to the Court’s Orders requiring such searches be conducted, as well as the imaging of 

Defendants’ computers identified in Plaintiff’s notice of inspection. Further, Defendants hired an 

expert to review the computers after the data had been destroyed, thus altering the proofs in this 

case. 

As is evident from the Background of Discovery Violations section, supra, Plaintiff has been 

diligently seeking electronic discovery in this matter. Defendants have been on notice since April 

2012 during the administrative process before the Illinois Department of Human Rights that they 

were under an obligation to preserve evidence. Plaintiffs sent a notice of inspection with the 

“Warning” requiring them to preserve evidence and not destroy it or alter it in any way. Plaintiff 

also served discovery on Defendants as early as December 16, 2013, putting Defendants on 

notice beyond the IDHR and the filing of Plaintiff’s complaint of their obligations to preserve 
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ESI. Plaintiff has filed numerous motions to compel the information that Defendants 

subsequently destroyed. Defendants were repeatedly ordered by this court to produce the 

information. Yet, despite the prior notice and orders, Defendants still failed to take reasonable 

measures to preserve ESI. Defendants also took affirmative steps to modify, overwrite, or delete 

data stored on computers. Defendants intentionally engaged in subterfuge to have Plaintiffs 

analyze the wrong computers. Furthermore, Plaintiff raised timely objections to Defendants’ 

destruction of evidence, in that Plaintiff has filed numerous motions for sanctions related to 

Defendants’ failures to produce discovery when Plaintiff learned of Defendants’ failure.  

Defendants’ conduct in this case is even more egregious than the conduct in Peal, where the 

court found that the party’s conduct of wiping computers and destroying external hard drives was 

the “personification of bad faith.” 403 Ill. App. 3d at 206. Similarly, in this case, despite prior 

notice and multiple Court orders, Defendants failed to take reasonable measures to preserve ESI 

for imaging. Defendants also took affirmative steps to modify, overwrite, or delete data stored on 

computers. Defendants intentionally engaged in subterfuge to have Plaintiffs analyze the wrong 

computers. Defendants accomplished the destruction of the data while delaying and violating the 

Court’s numerous orders compelling production of the data. This too is the personification of bad 

faith. Id.; see also Graves, 172 Ill. App. 3d at 39.  

An order striking a party’s pleadings and for a default judgment is an appropriate sanction 

where the party’s actions show a deliberate, contumacious or unwarranted disregard of the 

court’s authority and the rules. Sander, 166 Ill. 2d at 67; see also Adcock v. Brakegate, Ltd., 164 

Ill.2d 54, 66 (1994) (holding that because of defendant’s discovery abuses, all of plaintiff’s 

allegations of civil conspiracy would be deemed admitted and judgment entered against 

defendants). 
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Discovery procedures are meaningless unless violation entails penalty proportionate to the 

gravity of the violation. Buehler v. Whalen, 70 Ill.2d 51, 67 (1977). Pleadings may be stricken 

for the violation of a discovery order or rule when the stricken pleadings bear some reasonable 

relationship to the information withheld. 612 North Michigan Avenue Building Corp v. 

Factsystem, Inc., 34 Ill.App.3d 922, 928 (1st Dist. 1975) (court ordered default judgment where 

information regarding relationships between defendants sought in the discovery orders bore a 

reasonable relationship to the substantive merits of the defendants’ defense). 

In this case, Defendants’ conduct warrants the entry of judgment against them as Defendants’ 

conduct has forever altered the proofs in this case. In accordance with Graves, Peal, 612 N. 

Michigan, Sander, and Adcock, supra, the sanction against Defendants should be judgment 

against Defendants because default is the only sanction that is proportionate to the egregious 

conduct committed by Defendants to actively deceive Plaintiff and this Court in order to destroy 

highly relevant evidence. Defendants have caused years of delay and required the expenditure of 

hundreds of thousands of dollars. Moreover, Defendants have defrauded Plaintiff of a fair and 

impartial trial by their dilatory tactics and destruction of documents. Defendants’ conduct should 

not be tolerated by this Court and should be sanctioned.  

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter an Order allowing for a default judgment 

and sanctions for Defendants destruction of evidence to fully mitigate the prejudice to Plaintiff, 

along with an award of Plaintiff’s attorney’s fees and costs, to include but not be limited to, costs 

related to all of Plaintiff’s Electronically Stored Information Motions and efforts to uncover 

Defendants discovery abuses, and for such other relief that is just and equitable.  
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Respectfully Submitted, 
 
DENA LEWIS-BYSTRZYCKI 

 
 

/s/Dana L. Kurtz     
      
Attorney for Plaintiff  
 

KURTZ LAW OFFICES, LTD. 
32 Blaine Street  
Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 
Phone:  630.323.9444 
Facsimile:  630.604.9444 
Firm No. 43132 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing 
PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF SANCTIONS FOR 
DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS AND SPOLIATION as served upon the following named 
individuals by electronic filing on September 6, 2017. 
 
Daniel Boddicker  dboddicker@keefe-law.com 
John Murphey   jmurphey@rmcj.com   
 
 
       /s/Dana L. Kurtz  

______________________________ 
    Dana L. Kurtz 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 
DENA LEWIS-BYSTRZYCKI, 
 
  Plaintiff, 

 
 

 
 v. 

 
No.   2012 L 009916 
 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, et al.,           Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath 
 
  Defendants. 

 
 

 

Exhibit List 

1. 4/15/15 Order 

2. Plaintiff’s Second Set of Discovery to Defendants 

3. Notice of Inspection 

4. Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel 

5. Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel and for Discovery Sanctions 

6. 8/27/15 Orders 

7. Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants’ Motion to Continue Trial 

8. 9/16/15 Order 

9. 11/2/15 Order 

10. Garrett Report regarding ESI Destruction (without exhibits) 

11. Plaintiff’s Second Motion to Compel 

12. 4/22/16 Order 

13. 6/24/16 Order 

14. Plaintiff’s Third Motion for Sanctions 

15. 8/31/16 Order 

16. 8/31/16 Hearing Transcript 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
7/     9/  30 M9/7/2017 8:30 AM

-0099162012-L-009916
CALENDAR: U

PAGE 1 of 2
CIRCUIT COURT OF

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LAW DIVISION

CLERK DOROTHY BROWN



17. Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions 

18. 1/23/17 Order 

19. 2/6/17 Order 

20. Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion to Preserve ESI 

21. 2/17/17 Order 

22. 2/27/17 Order 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 

 

  v. 

 

 

No.   2012 L 009916 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, a 

municipal corporation, and CARL PYCZ, 

JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 

AGPAWA, in their individual capacity, 

 

 

    Defendants. 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF 

DOCUMENTS TO DEFENDANT CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS 

 

    Plaintiff  DENA  LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI,  through  her  attorneys,  KURTZ  LAW 

OFFICES,  LTD.,  and  pursuant  to  Supreme  Court  Rule  214,  submits  the  following 

requests  for  the  production  of  documents  to Defendant CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB 

HILLS and requests that within twenty‐eight (28) days from service hereof, Defendant 

produce  its written  responses.  Plaintiff  incorporates  the  instructions  and  definitions 

from her first set of discovery requests as though fully set forth herein.  

1. The  complete  personnel,  employment,  training,  evaluation  and 

disciplinary  files  of  (a)  all  employees  with  the  same  supervisor  or  supervisors  as 

Plaintiff, including employees who currently report to the same supervisor as Plaintiff 

or previously reported to the same supervisor as Plaintiff, including those in her chain 

of  command  all  the way  up  to  the Chief  of  the  Fire Department;  (b)  all  employees 
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2 

 

subject  to  the  same  codes  of  conduct,  rules  and  regulations  Plaintiff was  accused  of 

violating; and (c) all employees with the same or similar job duties as Plaintiff. 

ANSWER: 

 

2.  Produce any and all documents or notes related to the scoring, results, or 

administration  of  any  and  all  Country  Club Hills  Fire  Department  examination  for 

promotion  to Fire Lieutenant,  from 2011  to  the present and continuing  into  the  future 

through  the pendency of  this case, and complete examination results of all examinees 

that sat for the examination, including but not limited to: 

a) Documents  indicating  the  breakdown  of  the  examination  scores, 

including, but not limited to, the individual scores of all examinees 

for:  

i. the written examination; 

ii. the assessment center; 

iii. the company training exercise; 

iv. the tactical exercise; and 

v. the employee meeting exercise. 

b) Documents  relating  to  the  award  of  any  other  points,  or  similar 

advantages,  to all examinees  for any reason, and  the reasons why 

such points were given for each candidate; 
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3 

 

c) Any  notes,  scorecards,  point  allocations,  or  similar  documents, 

related to the creation, administration, or scoring of the exam; and  

d) All  rules,  regulations,  policies,  and/or  procedures  relating  to  any 

and all testing, scoring, evaluation, and/or promotional decisions to 

Lieutenant.  

ANSWER: 

 

3.  Produce any documents indicating the individuals responsible for scoring, 

assessing, or creating any portion the Country Club Hills Fire Department examination 

for promotion to Fire Lieutenant from 2011 to the present and continuing into the future 

through the pendency of this case, and any documents created or maintained by such 

individuals,  including but not  limited  to, documents  related  to or  indicating persons 

responsible for the scoring of the written and assessment center portions of the exam.  

ANSWER: 

 

  4.  Any  and  all  documents  relating  or  referring  to  any  investigation 

conducted by Defendants about or relating to Plaintiff.  

ANSWER: 
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4 

 

  5.  Any and all emails relating or referring to Plaintiff, any Defendant, any of 

the allegations in this case, including but not limited to those that contain or reference 

any of the following search terms: Dena, Lewis, Lewis‐Bystrzycki, Bystrzycki, any and 

all  individual defendants  and  any variation  of  their names, promotion[s],  retaliation, 

harassment,  discrimination,  discipline,  investigation,  general  orders,  policies, 

procedures,  call  off,  notice,  testing,  scoring,  complaint[s],  IDHR,  gender,  sex,  and/or 

sexual. 

ANSWER: 

Respectfully Submitted,  

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI 

 

 

                       

Attorney for Plaintiff 

KURTZ LAW OFFICES, LTD. 

32 Blaine Street  

Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

Phone:  630.323.9444 

Facsimile:  630.604.9444 

Firm No. 43132 
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5 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies  that a  true and correct copy of  the above and 

foregoing  PLAINTIFF’S  SECOND  REQUEST  FOR  PRODUCTION  OF 

DOCUMENTS  TO  DEFENDANT  CITY  OF  COUNTRY  CLUB  HILLS was  served 

upon  all  parties  by  email  and  by  placing  the  same  in  the  United  States  Postal 

Depository located at 32 Blaine Street, Hinsdale, Illinois, before 5:00 p.m. on the 2nd day 

of July 2015, First Class postage prepaid. 

 

Daniel Boddicker 

Keefe, Campbell, Biery & Associates, LLC 

118 North Clinton Street, Suite 300 

Chicago, Illinois 60661 

E‐mail: dboddicker@keefe‐law.com  

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 

 

  v. 

 

 

No.   2012 L 009916 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, a 

municipal corporation, and CARL PYCZ, 

JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 

AGPAWA, in their individual capacity, 

 

 

    Defendants. 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND SET OF INTERROGATORIES TO 

DEFENDANT CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS 

 

Plaintiff  DENA  LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI,  through  her  attorneys,  KURTZ  LAW 

OFFICES, LTD., and pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 213, submits the following second set 

of  interrogatories  to Defendant CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, and  requests  that 

within  twenty‐eight  (28) days  from  service hereof, Defendant  separately answer each 

Interrogatory, in writing and under oath. These interrogatories are continuing in nature 

and Defendant is required and requested to regularly supplement its answers. Plaintiff 

incorporates the instructions and definitions from her first set of discovery requests as 

though fully set forth herein. 

1. Identify each and every act of misconduct alleged against each employee of 

the City  of Country Club Hills Fire Department  for  (a)  all  employees with  the  same 

supervisor or supervisors as Plaintiff, including employees who currently report to the 

same supervisor as Plaintiff or previously reported to the same supervisor as Plaintiff, 
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2

including  those  in  her  chain  of  command  all  the  way  up  to  the  Chief  of  the  Fire 

Department; (b) all employees subject to the same codes of conduct, rules and regulations 

Plaintiff was accused of violating; and (c) all employees with the same or similar job duties 

as Plaintiff, and include for each the following:  

a. The name of the employee;  

b. The rank and/or position of the employee;  

c. The nature of the alleged misconduct;  

d. Whether or not the employee was investigated, and if so, produce all 

of the documents relating or referring to the investigation;  

e. Whether  or  not  the  employee  was  disciplined  and  if  so,  what 

disciplined was issued, and what disciplined was actually served; 

f. Whether you claim that anyone else engaged in the same or similar 

alleged misconduct and is so, what and whom; and  

g. Produce any and all documents relating or referring to the above.  

ANSWER: 

 

2. Identify each and every point that was given to any candidate for promotion 

to Lieutenant from 2011 to the present and continuing into the future through the pendency 

of this case, and the reason for each point or set of points for each candidate, including but 

not limited to the reason for each point given to each candidate by the Chief, as well as any 

other points or point given to each candidate, and how many points they were given, as 
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3

well as a detailed explanation for each point given and by whom.  

ANSWER:  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI 

 

 

 

             

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

Dana L. Kurtz 

KURTZ LAW OFFICES, LTD. 

32 Blaine Street 

Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

Phone: 630.323.9444 

Facsimile: 630.604.9444 

Email: dkurtz@kurtzlaw.us E
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4

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies  that a  true and correct copy of  the above and 

foregoing PLAINTIFF’S SECOND SET OF INTERROGATORIES TO DEFENDANT 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS was served upon all parties by email and by placing 

the  same  in  the United States Postal Depository  located at 32 Blaine Street, Hinsdale, 

Illinois, before 5:00 p.m. on the 2nd day of July 2015, First Class postage prepaid. 

 

Daniel Boddicker 

Keefe, Campbell, Biery & Associates, LLC 

118 North Clinton Street, Suite 300 

Chicago, Illinois 60661 

E‐mail: dboddicker@keefe‐law.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

              Dana L. Kurtz 
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EXHIBIT 3 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 

 

  v. 

 

No.   2012 L 009916 

 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, a 

municipal corporation, and CARL PYCZ, 

JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 

AGPAWA, in their individual capacity, 

 

          Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath 

 

    Defendants. 

 

 

 

AMENDED NOTICE OF INSPECTION 

 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE  that Plaintiff,  through  her undersigned  counsel,  and 

pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 214(a), shall conduct an inspection of the following on 

August 3, 2015 at 10:00 a.m.:  

1. All firehouses in person and by video and/or photographic means;  

2. The computers for inspection and imaging using Encase Forensic software by 

Guidance  Software  or  other  comparable  software, which  located  in  (a)  the 

classroom  at  Station  1,  (b)  the middle  office  across  from  the  bathroom  at 

Station 1, (c) the paramedic writing room computer at Station 2, and (d) the 

computer in the hallway by the engineers’ office at Station 2; and  

3. The Televisions and cable boxes located in both Stations.  
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This notice of inspection requires Defendants and Defendants’ agents and employees to 

not alter  in any way, shape, or  form, any of  the areas, documents, data, contents, and 

information to be inspected.  

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI 

 

 

 

                       

Attorney for Plaintiff 

KURTZ LAW OFFICES, LTD. 

32 Blaine Street  

Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

Phone:  630.323.9444 

Facsimile:  630.604.9444 

Firm No. 43132 
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

 

The undersigned, an attorney, on oath states that I served this notice via email on 

July 11, 2015. 

 

 

Daniel Boddicker 

Keefe, Campbell, Biery & Associates, LLC 

118 North Clinton Street, Suite 300 

Chicago, Illinois 60661 

dboddicker@keefe‐law.com  

vpena@keefe‐law.com  

 

 

   

  ______________________________ 

                Dana L. Kurtz 

 

 

 
[   X   ]  Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to ILL. REV. STAT.., CHAP. 100, Sec. 1‐109, 

I certify that the statements set forth herein are true and correct.  
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAWDIVISION

DENA LEWIS BYSTRZYCKI,

Plaintiff,

v. No. 2012 L 009916

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, CARL
PYCZ, JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER
AGPAWA,

Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath

Defendants.

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO COMPEL

Plaintiff DENA LEWIS BYSTRZYCKI, through her counsel, KURTZ LAW

OFFICES, LTD., respectfully moves pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 219 (eff.

July 1, 2002) for an order compelling Defendant CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS to

produce information and documents related to comparative evidence that Plaintiff

requested in discovery. In support, Plaintiff states as follows:

1. Plaintiff is a Country Club Hills Fire Fighter and she seeks redress against

Defendants for retaliation in violation of the Illinois Whistleblower Protection Act (740

ILCS § 174/15) (Count I); for gender discrimination and for creating a hostile work

environment in violation of the Illinois Human Rights Act (“IHRA”) (775 ILCS § 5/1

102) (Count II); and for retaliation also in violation of the IHRA (Count III). Among

other things, the factual basis of Plaintiff’s claims include allegations that Defendants

singled out Plaintiff for unwarranted and disproportionate disciplinary action,

including suspension, denying Plaintiff training, and treating Plaintiff differently in the

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
2015 3:    13/   8/13/2015 3:50 PM
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 

 

  v. 

 

No.   2012 L 009916 

 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, CARL 

PYCZ, JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 

AGPAWA, 

 

          Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath 

 

    Defendants. 

 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE AND OBJECTION TO  

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL 

 

Plaintiff  DENA  LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI,  through  her  undersigned  counsel, 

respectfully files this response and objection to Defendants’ motion to continue the trial 

for the following reasons: (1) this Court has already advised the parties that it was not 

going  to  continue  to  trial  in  this  matter;  (2)  Defendants’  agreed  to  the  discovery 

scheduling  order  that  they  now  seem  to  object  to;  (3)  continuing  the  trial  would 

substantially prejudice Plaintiff; and  (4) Defendants’ history of  their own delay  in  this 

case is not a basis to continue to trial. In support, Plaintiff states as follows: 

1. The  trial  in  this  matter  was  original  set  for  January  12,  2015.  (Ex.  1, 

7/21/14.) The  trial was continued  in part because of Defendants’ delay  in discovery  in 

this case, which is explained in more detail below.1  

                                                 
1   As Defendants mention  in  their motion  to  continue  the  trial, Plaintiff’s  counsel’s  (Ms. 

Kurtz) husband suffered a spinal cord injury in July 2014. However, inspite of Ms. Kurtz’s need 
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Report For 

 

Dena Lewis-Bystrzycki  

v.  

City of Country Club Hills, Carl Pycz,  

Joseph Ellington, and Roger Agpawa 

 

Case ID - 2012 L 00916 

Report on ESI Destruction 

 
 
Prepared For:  Dana Kurtz 
  Attorney at Law 
   

 
Prepared By:  Andy Garrett 
  Garrett Discovery Inc 
   
 
Date:   July 21, 2017 
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  2 
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  3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.0 Expert Background 
 

I, Andrew Garrett am employed by Garrett Discovery Inc, an Illinois based computer forensics 

firm specializing in digital investigations and computer forensics.  I was selected to review digital 

evidence and write an expert report.   I have been performing computer forensics for the last ten years 

and was formerly a contractor and principal responsible for the largest computer forensics and 

electronic discovery facility at the Department of Defense.   I have performed forensic analysis for 

private corporations, federal and state courts.  I have processed more than five hundred cases.  I have 

performed expert work by order for federal and state court cases in Tennessee, Wisconsin, Indiana, 

Delaware, Iowa, Illinois, Florida and Alabama.   

I have received forensic training provided by Guidance Software and AccessData, whom are the 

leading forensic software companies in the United States.  Additionally, I have been deemed an expert in 

multiple federal and state courts and have held numerous computer certifications.  My CV (Attachment 

A) and case history (Attachment B) are attached.  

2.0 Investigation Narrative 
 

I was asked by counsel and ordered by the court to examine the computers that were in place 

during the time of employment of the plaintiff to report on the efforts to identify and collect ESI, 

possible destruction or withholding of ESI. 
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  4 

On May 18, 2017 I issued a 2,164 page report regarding the use of Country Club Hills computers 

to surf pornography.   This report was filed as a separate report and its findings and opinions stand alone 

and have no weight or bearing on this report. 

 

3.0 Timeline of Events 
 

I have written what I consider the importance of each of these events in bold and cited prior 

discovery materials as reference.  Although, this is the best available information to show a timeline of 

events, the dates of the actual event may be on or about that date. 

February 27, 2012 Plaintiff files IDHR Charge 

April 13, 2012 Defendant files appearance before the IDHR, and had received prior notice of 

preservation requirements from IDHR 

See https://www.illinois.gov/dhr/FilingaCharge/Pages/Investigation.aspx 

August 31, 2012 Complaint Filed (See Attachment C) 

December 2013 Plaintiff served initial discovery requests on Defendant  

April 15, 2013 First Amended Complaint (See Attachment D) 

July 2, 2015 Plaintiff served second supplemental discovery requests on defendants 

July 7 2015 Plaintiff files Supplemental Complaint (See Attachment E) 
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  5 

July 11, 2015 Notice of Inspection  (See Attachment F) 

“The computers for inspection and imaging using Encase Forensic software by 

Guidance Software or other comparable software, which located in (a) the 

classroom at Station 1, (b) the middle office across from the bathroom at Station 

1, (c) the paramedic writing room computer at Station 2, and (d) the computer in 

the hallway by the engineers’ office at Station 2; and This notice of inspection 

requires Defendants and Defendants’ agents and employees to not alter in any 

way, shape, or form, any of the areas, documents, data, contents, and 

information to be inspected.” 

NOTE: AT THIS TIME THE COMPUTERS HAVE NOT BEEN UPGRADED OR 

SWAPPED OUT 

July 17, 2015  Defendant’s Motion for Protective Order regarding Notice of Inspection 

August 18, 2015 Plaintiff’s Corrected Response to Protective Order (Attachment G) 

“Defendants erroneously claim that Plaintiff’s Amended Notice of Inspection is 

overly broad, unduly burdensome, and irrelevant to issues in the case. In fact, all 

the areas Plaintiff has requested to inspect are relevant to Plaintiff’s claims and 

the relevancy has been substantiated by testimony in this case. 

Second, Plaintiff noticed the “[t]he computers for inspection and imaging” and 

the “the Televisions and cable boxes” due to evidence acquired during discovery 

that pornography is viewed at the Country Club Hills firehouses. There has been 

testimony on the record, during two separate depositions, that pornography is 

viewed by firefighters at the firehouse(s), including one Lieutenant who admitted 
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  6 

to watching pornography. (See Exhibit 2, Dep. Draft Transcript of Lt. Dangoy at 

191‐95 (excerpt only); Exhibit 3, Dep. Transcript of Defendant Pycz at 40 (excerpt 

only).)” 

August 20, 2015 Country Club Hills Public Safety Director William A. Brown sends 

memorandum to all Department Personnel that an Investigation is underway. 

(See Attachment H ) 

 “At the request of Fire Chief Roger Agpawa I am directing that an investigation 

into the use of cable TV in the station and Internet Services at the station using 

the city’s wifi system be launched immediately.  Investigators from the police 

department and personnel from the IT department will be conducting the 

investigation”    

August 21, 2015 Country Club Hills installs web filters to block pornography websites (See 

Attachment I) 

Wayne Werosh Country Club Hills IT consultant deposition of March 14, 2017 

included: 

“Research and install DNS Web filtering at Station 1 and Station 2” Page 143 

Line 12-13 and when asked what it was for stated “I believe it was both Chief 

Agpawa and Deputy Chief Kopec to look into installing filters into their computer 

networks to restrict access to objectional material: pornography, violence, things 

like that”. (See Attachment I at Page 143 Line 20-24). 
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  7 

 When asked if he had installed those filters in 2015 to prevent users from 

viewing that type of material he responded with “yes” (See Attachment I Page 

144 Line 6) and was operational in August of 2015. 

September 11, 2015 Rudy Maybell (CCH IT Director) sends letter stating that computers were being 

monitored, no expectation of privacy and that there was no misuse of the 

computers and all internet history is being recorded. (See Attachment J) 

“The City regularly monitors and /or logs network activity with or 
without notice, including e-mail and all website communications, and therefore, 
users should have no reasonable expectation of privacy in the use of these 
resources. 

a) City monitors logs network activity and all website 
communications 

b) There is no expectation of privacy for internet usage by 
employees 

 
1. The following information reflects the Fire Department Internet and 

Software Audit started on 8/28-2015 and completed on 9/10/2015.  
a) The city conducted a software audit 

 
2. Review of inventoried equipment disclosed no irregularities or 

misuse of City equipment and policies based on our Country Club 
Hills Handbook of personnel, policies and procedures page 88 under 
{Acceptable Use of Technology Policy}. 

a) No irregularities found  
 

3. If deep forensic type hard drive discovery is required, we refer WTM 
Werosh Technology Management, located in Oak Forest, IL. As a 
vendor who can perform those services.” 
 

August 21, 2016 Wayne Werosh IT Consultant for Country Club Hills formats (wiped) drives on 

Network Attached Storage system.   The network attached storage system 

holds backups and fire station files and is used as a fileserver and was wiped 

of its data. (See Attachment K) 
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  8 

Wayne Werosh Deposition “removed the network attached storage device from 

Station 1, I rebuilt it, and on 3/4/2016 I reinstalled it in the library in the network 

cabinet” (See Attachment I Page 115 Line 11-14) 

October 7, 2015 Country Club Hills hires an outside Human Resources person, Marion Williams 

to conduct an investigation of the employees of the Country Club Hills 

regarding the use of the computers and tv based on allegations of employees 

watching pornography at work. (See Attachment L)  

November 9, 2015 Country Club Hills Fire Chief Agpawa sends letter to Attorney Daniel Boddicker 

regarding an internal investigation regarding the use of the TV and computers 

to watch pornography and attached the IT Report and Williams HR Report. 

(See Attachment M) 

 When Williams asked the employees: Carl Pycz, Glen McAuliff, Michael Kilburg, 

Raymond Bernadisius, Michelle Hullinger, Derek Dangoy, Nicholas Jula and 

Lawrenece Gillespie if they had any knowledge of employees watching porn 

while at the firehouse none of them admitted to surfing or seeing someone surf 

pornography websites. 

 My May 18, 2017 2,164 page report at page 12 – 16 clearly shows that Carl Pycz 

and Lawrence Gillespie were surfing and downloading large amounts of 

pornography on the computers contrary to their statements to Williams. 

February 17, 2016 CCleaner was ran on computer ‘6RW2GZ36’ (See report below for more 

information) 
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  9 

April 22, 2016  Court Order, granting Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel, and entered and continued 

Plaintiff’s motion as to the computer imaging and inspection, and ordering the 

Parties’ counsel, Plaintiff’s expert, and Defendant’s IT person to meet and 

confer to discuss search terms on other ESI issues. 

April 28, 2016 Meet and confer per the Court’s April 22, 2016 Order with Plaintiff’s counsel, 

4Discovery, Defendant’s counsel and Rudy Maybell, regarding the existence 

and location of ESI, etc. No identification of the NAS server.  

March 4, 2016 Wayne Werosh Installs the Rebuilt Network Attached Storage Device 

Wayne Werosh installed the Network Attached Storage device taken out of 

service on January 1, 2016 and testified that “to the best of my-my recollection 

the server, the training room computer, the computer in the lieutenant’s office, 

and one of the computers in the library” (Attachment I Page 116 Line15-18) 

were being “imaged onto the NAS” (Attachment I Page 116: Line 10-11) 

April 6, 2016 Plaintiff filed Second Motion to Compel and for Sanctions (Attachment N) 

May 11, 2016 CCleaner was ran on computer ‘6RW2GZ36’ (See report below for more 

information) 

June 14, 2016 Wayne Werosh IT Consultant for Country Club Hills received a call from Lt. 

Bernadisius authorizing fire station computers eligible for Windows 10 to be 

upgraded (Attachment O) 

 The very computers that were subject of the litigation in the training room were 

being upgraded by Lt. Bernadisuis and not Wayne Werosh the night prior to Mr. 

Werosh arriving to upgrade the computers. 
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The two computers that were subject to this litigation are the two computers 

“across from the bathroom” and the room was identified to me by Mr. Maybell, 

Mr. Boddicker  and Mr. Sachnoff as the training room and also called the library. 

 “I discussed the process with Lt. Bernadisius, who started the Training room 

Desktop the evening of 6/15/2016 with the agreement that we would start 

upgrading all devices in the morning on 6/16/2016.” 

June 24, 2016 Court Order on Plaintiff’s Second Motion to Compel and for Sanctions, 

entering and continuing the motion for hearing on July 29, 2016, and ordering 

Defendants to answer questions from Forensic expert by July 8, 2016.  

July 19, 2016 Plaintiff’s 3rd Motion for Sanctions 

Motion stated “Defendants and their counsel have violated and repeatedly 

ignored numerous Orders by this Court . . . Most recently on June 24, 2016, this 

Court entered an order requiring Defendants’ to answer the questions from 

Plaintiff’s forensic expert on the manner in which their electronic records (ESI) 

are kept and maintained by July 8, 2016. . . . Defendants have failed to comply 

with this Court’s June 24, 2016 Order, and have not answered the forensic 

expert’s questions or so much as responded that they needed more time. They 

have simply ignored this Court’s order (like the many other orders that have 

been ignored by Defendants and their counsel).” 

July 25, 2016 Disk Defragmenter was ran on computer ‘6RW2GZ36’ (see report below for 

more information) 
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July 27, 2016 Robert Kopec sent an email to CCH employees advising them that two 

computers were going to be replaced and to copy any data before they are 

taken out of service identified in this report as computer WCATR1278977 AND 

WCATR1278977(See Attachment P) 

July 27, 2016 Wayne Werosh removed the two computers from service from the “training 

room” (the “room across from the bathroom”) described by the plaintiff in the 

notice of inspection, and as being some of the computers used to surf 

pornography. These are the same two computers Werosh notified in two 

separate conversations Chief Roger Agpawa and Deputy Chief Kopec that they 

should be retained and left evidence tags on them. 

 

Wayne Werosh made a few assertions during his deposition regarding the 

removal of the two computers not previously identified by the defendants.   At 

the time of the deposition I had not been told or informed that these computers 

were replaced with other computers from other areas in the firestation. 

 

Werosh informed the Chief and Deputy Chief in two separate conversations that  

he took the two desktop computers out of service at Fire Station 1  and“that 

they should probably keep them and not do anything with them” Page 93 Line 6-

11 and in another section of testimony commented as to why he had that 

conversation and responded with “Because I had had the previous conversation 

with him about the forensic imaging and thought that it would probably be in his 

best interest if those were left alone” (Attachment I Page 99-100 Line 22-24). 
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Mr. Werosh said both computers “were left in the library on the floor up against 

the west wall” (Attachment I Page 99 Line 5-6) and that “There were only two 

computers – there were only two desktop computers in the library. And both of 

them were Windows XP machines that I previously stated I took out of service 

and left with tags on them”  

July 29, 2016 Court Order, entering and continuing Plaintiff’s 3rd Motion for Sanctions, and 

Plaintiff’s 2nd Motion to Compel and for sanctions to August 31, 2016.  

August 1-14, 2016 Disk Defragmenter was run on computer WCATR1278977 on August 1, 4, 11, 

14. (See Report Below for more details) 

August 8, 2016 Disk Defragmenter was run on computer ‘6RW2GZ36’ (See Report Below for 

more details) 

August 12, 2016 Defendants answered 4Discovery questions that were generated from April 

28, 2016 telephone call regarding ESI issues. No identification of the NAS 

server.  

August 12, 2016 Disk Cleanup was run on computer ‘WCATR1278977’ (See Report Below for 

more details) 

August 31, 2016 Court Order granting Plaintiff’s Second Motion to Compel as to the imaging of 

the four computers identified in the notice of inspection. The Court denied 

Plaintiff’s 3rd Motion for Sanctions without prejudice for reasons stated in the 

transcript.  
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Report of Proceedings memorialized the courts intentions as to a forensic 

examination of the computers referenced by the Plaintiff.   (See Attachment 

Q) 

See transcript “Now, I thank you both for your patience in giving me time to 

look at everything again. After reviewing everything, I am granting the second 

motion to compel regarding plaintiff's request for a forensic examination 

regarding those computers in the classroom at station one, the middle office 

across from the bathroom at station one, the paramedic writing room computer 

at station two and the computer in the hallway by the engineer's office at 

station two. 

“After reading the depositions, I have concluded this isn't a fishing expedition. 

The plaintiff was not wholly unable to come up with (inaudible) that she 

witnessed fellow employees watching porn. The problem is according to her the 

porn watching was pervasive. So, for example, every time she would worked 

with Larry, I don't know how to pronounce it, Giseppe --Giseppe? he was 

watching porn. And that applied to Mr. Marcus 65 percent of the time and Mr. 

Boyd 50 percent of the time. Again that is according to her testimony. When I 

couple that testimony with the defendants' witnesses' testimony that they 

admit witnessing firefighters watching porn or watching porn themselves, I 

conclude that the forensic examination requested may lead to discoverable 

evidence and does not constitute a fishing expedition.” 

“[As to Plaintiff’s 3rd Motion for Sanctions, I am going to deny it. It is without 

prejudice. If due to your forensic analysis you discover that there are weighty 
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documents that should have been produced that weren’t, I will reconsider 

sanctions.”  

September 23, 2016 Wayne Werosh IT Consultant for Country Club Hills provided a “Backup/Image  

Quote” to Robert Kopec to provide three 2Terabyte USB drives an, image 10 

workstation and provide a backup script.  (Attachment R) 

 “Attached is a quote for three 2TB USB Drives, one for you, the Chief and the 

Assistant Chief, along with a script to replicate all documents, files, etc to the 

USB drives.  Also included in the quote is setting up or verifying that five 

workstations at Station 2, and five workstations at Station 1 backup system 

images to the appropriate NAS drive”  

November  2016 Daniel Boddicker called Wayne Werosh and asked if he could help with a 

forensic investigation and was told by Werosh that Werosh could not. (See 

Attachment I Page 34-35) 

Counsel for the Defendants called CCH IT Consultant Wayne Werosh and asked 

if he “could help with a forensic investigation” and “He contacted me to ask me 

if I could monitor whomever was doing the disc imaging.” And “I explained to 

Mr. Boddicker that I didn't feel like I had the experience in forensic imaging and 

investigation to be a competent expert witness in court.”  

January 16, 2017  Defendant’s refused Plaintiffs Expert access to forensically image computers at 

Fire Stations 

Arrived at CCH Fire Station to forensically image computers pursuant to the 

‘Fourth Amended Notice of Inspection’ and courts order of August 31, 2016. 

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

L
LY

 F
IL

E
D

 
 

 
 

 
 

9/
7/

20
17

 8
:3

0 
A

M
00

99
16

00
99

16
20

12
-L

-0
09

91
6

20
12

-L
-0

09
91

6
PA

G
E

 2
9 

of
 5

8



  15 

I was directed to the computers in the library (“training room”) by three 

uniformed unidentified firefighters.  Within a few minutes, prior to getting 

started, I was told that I was not going to be doing the examination by Chief 

Agpawa. 

I asked Chief Agpawa why or who made the decision not to proceed, so that I 

could report back and was told by that Mr. Boddicker said it was not going to 

happen today.   

I asked to speak with Mr. Boddicker and was put on the phone with him and 

informed him that I had driven three hours to complete the forensic imaging of 

the computers and that even if protocols or keywords were still being worked 

out, that I could create the forensic images to preserve the data and leave it 

with the Fire Chief.  I was told by Mr. Boddicker that it was not going to happen 

today.  I asked when would be good time to return and he said he didn’t know. 

January 20, 2017 Plaintiff’s Motion to Show Cause and Sanctions regarding ESI Inspection 

“Defendants and Defendants’ counsel has continued to evade the court’s order 

granting the forensic imaging, including most recently cancelling the inspection 

the same morning only after the eDiscovery expert appeared at the fire station. 

In fact, the eDiscovery expert, Andrew Garrett was told to proceed by the staff 

on site prior to Defendant Chief Agpawa’s and Defendants’ counsel’s 

subsequent cancellation of the inspection.  

January 23, 2017 Court order granting Plaintiff’s motion for sanctions for violations of the 

Court’s order regarding inspection of computers for pornographic material, 
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and ordering the inspection and imaging to proceed on January 26, 2017, 

Defendants pay Plaintiff’s Expert Fees (See Attachment S) 

January 26, 2017 Court ordered imaging to proceed on this date. Defendants, in the presence of 

their counsel, directed Plaintiff’s Expert to the wrong computers to be imaged 

because Defendants had removed the computers to be serviced and did not 

advise Plaintiff’s expert or Plaintiff’s counsel.    

Arrived at the Fire station on 183rd street pursuant to the Emergency Motion    

and Courts Order and met Rudy Maybell (County Club Hills IT Department 

Head), Brent Sachnoff (Country Club Hills IT Consultant) and Daniel Boddicker 

(Counsel for the Defendants).  

I asked Mr. Sachnoff to identify the computers used by the defendants that 

were referenced in the court order.  Mr. Sachnoff looked at his mobile phone 

with Rudy Maybell preset and directed me to the middle office across from the 

bathroom identified as the training / library room as the first computers to 

forensically image.   I was informed that by Mr. Sachnoff that he was directed to 

escort me to the computers I was to image and that I was only to image those 

computers.  Mr. Boddicker arrived and oversaw part of the collection of the 

‘Library Computers‘. 

 

When powering down the computers, I noticed that the computers were 

networked on a domain.   It is most typical that computers connected to a 

corporate network and joined to a domain have ‘roaming profiles enabled’.  

Roaming Profiles redirect the users data to a centralized server.  Therefore, the 
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users usage data would reside on the workstation and other ESI such as 

documents stored in the My Documents folder could reside in the server. 

 I was told by Mr. Sachnoff with Rudy Maybell present that the computers did 

not have roaming profiles.   It was determined two hours later that day that the 

computers did have roaming profiles and Mr. Sachnoff agreed that there might 

be data that is relevant on the server.   I asked to image the server and Mr. 

Sachnoff said no that was not going to happen.   I asked to speak with Mr. 

Boddicker about it and Mr. Boddicker stated ‘no’ as well until I explained the 

likelihood of ESI being resident on the server due to roaming profiles.  Mr. 

Boddicker agreed to imaging of the only server I was aware of at that time.  At 

no time did the defendants disclose the Network attached storage system or the 

cloud as a source of ESI.     

Mr. Sachnoff and Mr. Maybell both had a discussion with Chief Agpawa in the 

training room (across from the bathroom) and I could hear Chief Agpawa in a 

loud voice say “he is not copying the server” and then Mr. Sachnoff and Mr. 

Maybell returned to say that they think they are both going to be fired if I image 

the server.    I was allowed the image the server pursuant to the agreement of 

Mr. Boddicker. 

A copy of all forensic images were left with Mr. Sachnoff and Mr. Maybell. 

Note: At the time of imaging, Defendants did not make me aware of the fact 

that the two computers from the library had been replaced and that the 

Network Attached Server contained backups of the workstations. As a result, 

neither the original Library Computers (#2(b) to the notice of inspection and 
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subject of the court’s order) which were stored in a closet or the Network 

Attached Storage System Server were NOT imaged on this date.  It was not until 

Wayne Werosh’s Deposition that I was made aware of the existence of the two 

computers stored in a closet that were in service in the Library (or Training 

Office/Room) during the employment of the Plaintiff. 

Below is a Matrix of the computer hard drives that were imaged. 

  

 

February 6, 2017 Court Order, ordering “the ESI/email imaging/retrieval shall occur [] by March 

23, 2017.”  

February 16, 2017 Plaintiff’s Emergency Motion to Preserve ESI 

“Plaintiff is concerned that Defendants have or will destroy other ESI and emails 

that are responsive to Plaintiff’s discovery requests in this case, despite their 

ongoing obligations to preserve ESI.” 

February 17, 2017 Court Order, granting Plaintiff’s Motion to preserve ESI in part, and ordering 

that the “imaging of Defs’ email servers and google drive shall occur before 

12:00 noon on February 18, 2017 with Defs’ IT consultant, Brent Sachnoff [] 

present, Brent Sachnoff will maintain the imaging and ensure all data is 

preserved until further order of the court.”  
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February 17, 2017 I called IT Consultant for Country Club Hills, Brent Sachnoff, and arranged to 

meet at City Hall as previously arranged to collect the email pursuant to the 

courts order to be completed by Saturday February 18, 2017. 

 When I arrived at City Hall I asked to see Rudy Maybell the IT Director for 

Country Club Hills and it was 5:02 pm.  Five o’clock was the agreed time by Mr 

Sachnoff to meet as he was out of town and flying back to the area that 

afternoon.  I was told by the Security Guard that Mr. Maybell had just left by 

direction of the Mayor and was told not to return until Monday.    

 I called Brent Sachnoff and informed him of the situation.  He said he would call 

the mayor because the Mayor asked that he be directly in the loop on all 

matters going forward. 

 I received a call from Mr. Sachnoff with the Mayor on the phone whom 

proceeded to say “you are going to have to come back another time,” and I 

explained that Mr. Sachnoff and I were ordered by the court to complete the 

imaging of the email.  I asked that Mr. Boddicker be joined to the call for the 

conversation, and he was then joined in on the call. Upon merging the calls, Mr. 

Sachnoff’s connection dropped from the call.  Mr. Boddicker said he did not 

have his number with him, so I provided the number and he was brought back 

onto the line. Ms. Kurtz was also joined on this call.   Mr. Boddicker said we 

would have to go back to court because he was not going to allow the imaging 

of the emails despite the court order.   Mr. Kurtz said she would file another 

emergency motion to enforce the emergency motion and ask that the Mayor 

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

L
LY

 F
IL

E
D

 
 

 
 

 
 

9/
7/

20
17

 8
:3

0 
A

M
00

99
16

00
99

16
20

12
-L

-0
09

91
6

20
12

-L
-0

09
91

6
PA

G
E

 3
4 

of
 5

8



  20 

attend.   After about 40 minutes of back and forth, I informed the Mayor of 

what the security guard had said when I arrived.  The Mayor then agreed to 

calling Mr. Maybell back in to comply with the order. 

 Mr. Maybell provided me with access to the emails and then after about an 

hour of collecting, terminated my access and said that Brent Sachnoff was going 

to be collecting the emails.  I again got Mr. Boddicker on the phone and let him 

know that I was there to follow the order, and if not allowed, I would leave. Mr. 

Boddicker agreed to allow me to continue and Mr. Maybell once again granted 

me access to the rest of the email boxes. 

 All emails were left on site on a portable hard drive with Mr. Sachnoff and to 

date have not been searched despite several attempts through correspondence 

from Plaintiff’s counsel to Defendants’ counsel. 

March 14, 2017 Wayne Werosh was deposed pursuant to Plaintiff’s subpoena.  Werosh 

testified that the two computers in the room across from the bathroom were 

swapped out with two other computers from other areas in the fire station, 

and that he put evidence tags on them, and advised Chief Agpawa, Maybell, 

and Deputy Chief Kopec to preserve them because of the litigation, among 

other things. (See Attachment I)  

Defendants never identified these computers that had been swapped out and 

evidence tags placed on them, until after being told that it appeared that the 

computers that were ordered by the Court to be imaged had been wiped 

based on the data contained on the computers.  
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March 22, 2017  Ms. Kurtz emails Mr Boddicker, stating in part: “I will be filing a motion for 

sanctions based on Defendants failure to produce the computers that were 

ordered by the Court for imaging relative to the issue of employees watching 

pornography in the Fire Stations. I will be seeking default judgment based on 

the history of non-compliance in this case and based upon the deliberate 

violations of the Court’s order(s) and failure to produce the computers as 

ordered by the Court.” 

March 22, 2017 Defendants’ counsel, Mr. Boddicker, responded via email regarding the 

computers, stating that they were located in a storage closet.   

April 12, 2017 Plaintiff’s counsel email to Defendants’ counsel – regarding imaging 2 

computers in the storage close without waiver.  

April 21, 2017 Defendants’ counsel confirmed imaging of the 2 computers in the storage 

closet for April 24, 2017.  

April 24, 2017 Imaged the two computers that were disclosed during the Werosh deposition 

and referenced in this report as computer hard drive ‘6RW2GZ36’ and 

‘WCATR1278977’. 

May 18, 2017 Delivered Report to Plaintiff regarding the Country Club Hills employees use of 

computer to surf pornography 

 (See Attachment: Subject to Protective Order) 

July 21, 2017 Defendants forensic expert firm Sikich delivered a report concurring with 

Plaintiff’s expert and citing software to wipe data was found and ran. 

 (See Attachment: Subject to a Protective Order) 
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5.0 Key Concepts and Terms 
 

5.1 User Profile 

In order for Microsoft Windows to separate one users information from another user 

profiles were created.  

When a user establishes an account on a computer for the first time, he or she creates 

on that computer a registry key with the logged in name and a folder known as the user profile 

folder used to store data created by the user.    At subsequent logons, the system loads the 

user's profile, and then other system components configure the user's environment according to 

the information in the profile.   

For instance, when examining a computer and navigating to “C:\Users\” you may find 

multiple folders labeled the same as a users login name.    If I had a user profile on the computer 

I was examining it would contain a folder at “C:\Users\” named ‘agarrett’ corresponding with my 

login name of ‘agarrett’.     

It is the folders that are found in “C:\Users\username” that contain the web history of 

web sites visited, searches, web chat history, files and other pertinent information to show user 

actions and based on the name of the user profile it is a good indicator of whom performed the 

specific actions on the computer. 

 

5.2 Unallocated Space / Free Space 

 

When a computer user saves a file on a computer many things happen, but important to 

this investigation is the file name and date properties are written to a pseudo spreadsheet 

called the Master File Table and the data is stored on the physical hard drive. 
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When a computer user deletes a file by either (Shift+Delete) or drags those files to the 

recycle bin and subsequently empties the recycle bin the entry in the Master File table is marked 

as deleted and eventually overwritten by new incoming data.    

An easy way to think about data is a phone book.   If I was to remove an entry from the 

phone book it doesn’t destroy the house or business that exists.  It only hinders me from finding 

the house or business.    The Master File Table is like a phone book and without it a computer 

user using the operating system cannot locate a file as there is no reference to it.   

We could talk about how a user could install specialized data recovery or forensic 

software and recover the file, but that would not be relevant to this analogy. 

When a file is deleted using the methods described above, the data is still resident on 

the hard drive, but there is not reference to it from the operating system.   It is essentially in a 

landfill of data that we often call ‘unallocated space’, because it is not allocated to a file name.     

When a new file is stored on the computer the operating system finds an area on the 

drive that is unallocated and allocates it to the new file, therefore overwriting the previous data 

that existed. 

Forensic software can recover files that were previously deleted by chaining back 

together the clusters on the hard drive that once was referenced only if those files have not 

been overwritten. 
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6.5  Disk Cleanup Usage on WCATR1278977 

Reference: See Attachment X 

Below is a graphic showing the dates and times Disk Cleanup was run on the 

computer hard drive ‘WCATR1278977’. 
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This means that, given the right software, someone could reconstruct all, or parts 

of files that you've deleted. For privacy and security reasons, you can set CCleaner to wipe 

the free areas of your hard disk so that deleted files can never be recovered.” 

As far as wiping out internet website history the process is completely different 

and CCleaner has many flaws.  These failures of other parts of the program leave behind 

many artifacts that can be recovered by forensic software.  For instance, there are files 

that are part of the operating system or part of an internet browser that if deleted the 

program may not function anymore.  In those cases, CCleaner opens the file and 

attempts to flush out the data within the file.  There are many reasons that CCleaner 

fails when attempting to flush out data within a file, which should not be confused with 

the process of overwriting a previously deleted file.    For instance, if a user has the 

internet browser open while CCleaner is open, the index.dat file containing the internet 

history can be locked by the operating system preventing CCleaner from flushing out the 

data.    

CCleaner is listed as one of the top Anti Forensic tools by the forensic community.  

A presentation was given at the largest computer forensic conference in the world 

Computer Enterprise Investigations Conference (CEIC) put on by Guidance Software the 

tool used by over 90% of law enforcement labs.  See below slide showing CCleaner. 
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6.7  Application CCleaner Usage 

Reference: See Attachment Z 

On February 17, 2016 and May 11, 2016, a user logged into the computer 

‘6RW2GZ36’ using the administrator account and launched the program CCleaner.  

The report generated by the Defense Expert states “Link files on the image showed 

that the administrator.CCHFD user account accessed the CCleaner software on February 

17, 2016 and May 11, 2016. It is unknown how the administrator.CCHFD user account 

utilized the CCleaner software or which artifacts (if any) were deleted.” (See Report Filed 

under Seal) 
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When a forensic examiner looks at the surface of the hard drive would 

show data written and in the middle of the data would see a string of 0’s.  This is 

an indication that a wiping utility has been used. 

One may make an argument that the drive was simply just not written to 

yet.  That could be true if the drive was a newer drive, but since the drive was 

manufactured and has been in use for over 6 years it would not be possible and 

data should exist throughout the drive.   In addition, in my experience consumer 
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I was able to extract what has been search from each of the computers imaged since 

beginning of 2013.   It is apparent that no one has used the Windows Search to conduct a 

search relevant to this litigation.  (See Attachment ZA) for the listing of searches conducted on 

the computers and corresponding dates. 

 

 

8.0 Conclusion 

 

Based on the totality of the evidence, defendants took many actions between the 

initiation of Plaintiff’s IDHR charge and litigation hold obligations, including throughout this 

case, to the time they actually allowed for examination of the computers.  Below are some of 

the actions taken by the defendants after the filing of the suit and well after the time notified to 

not allow for destruction of data.  I will not opine as to whether or not the actions were willful 

or intentional as those are legal conclusions.  I can only offer what is in evidence as facts and 

based on the facts I think that one could make their own conclusion at to the conduct and 

actions of the defendants. 

1. IT Web Filters were installed to prevent pornography usage 

2. An investigation was started  

3. Defendants wiped the Network Attached Storage Drive of all data that held 

computer backups 

4. Defendants used anti forensic tool CCleaner on one computer 

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

L
LY

 F
IL

E
D

 
 

 
 

 
 

9/
7/

20
17

 8
:3

0 
A

M
00

99
16

00
99

16
20

12
-L

-0
09

91
6

20
12

-L
-0

09
91

6
PA

G
E

 5
6 

of
 5

8



  42 

5. Defendants state they had sent a litigation hold letter to employees long after this 

litigation started 

6. Defendants used Disk Cleanup on multiple computers (used to destroy data beyond 

recovery including web history) 

7. Defendants used Disk Defragmenter on a computer (can be used as an Anti Forensic 

Tool) 

8. Defendants swapped out the two computers identified by the Plaintiff 

9. HR Firm conducted an investigation stating there was no pornography usage on the 

computers 

10. IT Department conducted an investigation saying there was no pornography usage 

on the computer 

11. Defendants testified in depositions contrary to evidence found by the Plaintiff’s and 

Defendant’s experts  

12. Defendants were asked and failed to identify the hidden from sight computers until 

confronted with the deposition of Wayne Werosh IT Consultant for Defendants and 

possibly the email from Plaintiff’s counsel  

13. Defendants refused to allow entry despite order for Plaintiff’s expert to examine 

computers and were sanctioned 

14. The use of anti-forensic tools on the computers destroyed web history, electronic 

data and files.  

15. Defendants wiped drives on the Network Attached Storage System and then used 

the Network Attached Storage system to store new files 
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16. Defendants did not identify as a source of data the backups created by Wayne 

Werosh stored on the newly wiped drives of the Network Attached Storage System 

17. Defendants did not identify as a source of data the cloud storage system 

18. Defendants did not identify as a source of data the network attached storage system 

in station 1 and 2 that contain the images of 10 computers identified by the plaintiff 

19. Plaintiff’s and Defendant’s expert both filed reports showing that anti forensic tools 

were launched on a computer after the initiation of the litigation and after 

Defendants’ obligation to preserve such data 

20. Plaintiff and Defendants expert both filed reports showing the usage of computers 

to surf pornography contrary to defendants HR Investigation results, IT Investigation 

results, and testimony at deposition of the defendants   

 

9.0 Declaration 
 

I declare under penalty and perjury under the laws of the State of Illinois that the information 

provided is true and correct. 

 

  July 21, 2017 

      Andy Garrett     Date  
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EXHIBIT 11 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
7/     9/  30 M9/7/2017 8:30 AM

-0099162012-L-009916
CALENDAR: U

PAGE 1 of 78
CIRCUIT COURT OF

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LAW DIVISION

CLERK DOROTHY BROWN



 

 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 

 

  v. 

 

No.   2012 L 009916 

 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, CARL 

PYCZ, JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 

AGPAWA, 

 

          Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath 

 

    Defendants. 

 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND MOTION TO COMPEL AND FOR SANCTIONS 

 

Plaintiff  DENA  LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI,  through  her  undersigned  counsel, 

respectfully  moves  pursuant  to  Illinois  Supreme  Court  Rule  219  for  a  second  order 

compelling Defendants to comply with various outstanding discovery requests previously 

served upon Defendants. Plaintiff  additionally  requests  sanctions  against Defendants  for 

their  failure  to  comply with  this  Court’s  previous  Orders.    In  support  of  this Motion, 

Plaintiff states as follows: 

Background and Procedural History  

Defendants have delayed discovery and the prosecution of Plaintiff’s claims  in this 

case. For example, a default  judgment was entered against Defendants because they failed 

to  appear  and  answer  the  complaint. Defendants’  failure  resulted  in  the  court  granting 

Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs; the court found that the “Defendants’ failure to appear 

and respond was reprehensible under the circumstances. . . .” (Ex. 1, 4/1/13 Order (emphasis 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
2016 4:    6/   4/6/2016 4:21 PM

-0099162012-L-009916
CALENDAR: U

PAGE 1 of 17
CIRCUIT COURT OF

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LAW DIVISION

CLERK DOROTHY BROWN
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EXHIBIT 1 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
19/     7/  39 M7/19/2016 9:39 AM

-0099162012-L-009916
CALENDAR: U

PAGE 1 of 7
CIRCUIT COURT OF

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LAW DIVISION

CLERK DOROTHY BROWN
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It is understood that ​Comcast Email​ was utilized by CCHFD.  
Who managed it? 
What is the date range when this was utilized?  
Was this a Comcast business or personal account?  
What was the domain? 
How many accounts existed and what were the names/emails for the users?  
Is the data still available? 

 
It is understood that ​Gmail ​was utilized by CCHFD.  

Who managed it? 
What is the date range when this was utilized?   
Was this personal Gmail or Google Apps with a registered domain?  
What was the domain?  
How many accounts existed and what were the names/emails for the users?  
Is the data still available? 

 
It is understood that ​two HP servers​ were utilized by CCHFD.  

Who managed them?  
What is the date range when these were utilized?  
What is the make and model of each server?  
How many accounts are there? 
Is the data still available? 

 
It is understood that a ​Compaq File and Print Server​ was utilized by CCHFD.  

Who managed it?  
What is the date range when this was utilized?  
What is the make and model? 
Is the data still available? 
 

For the ​computers/workstations​ utilized by CCHFD 
Provide a list of these computers and who used them 
Are these computers still available?   
Do backups exist? 

 
What is the ​current email service​ CCHFD utilizes? 

Who manages it? 
Since when has it been utilized? 
What is the domain? 

 
When switching between email services, was the email from the previous service migrated or 
was it a fresh start? 
 
Are there backups of this data anywhere? 
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1
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  SS:
COUNTY OF C O O K )
      IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
              COUNTY DEPARTMENT-LAW DIVISION

DENA LEWIS-BYSTRZYCKI,           )
                                 )
             Plaintiff,          )
                                 )
            vs.                  )  No. 2012 L 009916
                                 )
CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS,      )
a municipal corporation,         )
and CARL PYCZ, JOSEPH            )
ELLINGTON and ROGER AGPAWA,      )
in their individual capacity,    )
                                 )
             Defendants.         )

             REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had at the hearing in
the above-entitled cause before the HONORABLE BRIGID MARY
McGRATH, Judge of said court, on Friday, the 31st day of
August, A.D., 2016 at the Richard J. Daley Center, Room
1907, 50 West Washington Street, Chicago, Illinois, at
approximately 9:30 a.m.

2

1    APPEARANCES:
2    KURTZ LAW OFFICES, LTD.

   BY:  MS. DANA L. KURTZ
3    32 Blaine Street

   Hinsdale, Illinois 60521
4    (630) 323-9444
5         appeared for the Plaintiff;
6    KEEFE, CAMPBELL, BIERY & ASSOCIATES, LLC

   BY:  MR. DANIEL J. BODDICKER
7    118 North Clinton, Suite 300

   Chicago, Illinois 60661
8    (312) 756-3721
9         appeared for the Defendants.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

3

1           THE CLERK:  Lewis vs.  Country Club Hills.

2           MS. KURTZ:  Good morning, your Honor.  Dana

3 Kurtz for the Plaintiff.

4           MR. BODDICKER:  Good morning, Judge.  Daniel

5 Boddicker for the defendants.

6           THE COURT:  Thank you both for your patience.

7 Of course, after you left that day I found it.  I had it

8 on the chair with stickers on it, but it gave me a chance

9 to look at everything again.

10           MS. KURTZ:  And, your Honor, the defendants did

11 file a motion with respect to the deposition of Velda

12 Washington.  I don't know if you want to deal with that

13 first.  She is in court and she doesn't need to be here

14 for everything else.

15           THE COURT:  Let's deal with that.

16           MR. BODDICKER:  Judge, it's a petition for rule

17 to show cause.

18           THE COURT:  Okay.  So you noticed her for

19 deposition and she didn't show up.

20           MR. BODDICKER:  Several times, judge.

21           THE COURT:  What is going on?  These are court

22 orders.

23           MS. WASHINGTON:  Yes, ma'am.  On July 8th I was

24 subpoenaed to come to court.  I got the time confused.  I

4

1 thought it was for 2:00 as opposed to like 10:00.

2 Mr. Boddicker then called me and said are you coming.  I

3 live in Oak Forest.  We were coming downtown.  He said

4 can you get here in an hour.  I said I can't, I just kind

5 of got confused on the time.

6                 He rescheduled for July 14th in Miss

7 Kurtz's office.  I went there, I sat there for

8 deposition.  He insisted on a video dep.  I said I did

9 not agree with that and he decided just to cancel it.

10                 So I have responded, your Honor.

11           THE COURT:  And why are you objecting to a

12 video dep?

13           MS. WASHINGTON:  Your Honor, because I was

14 released from the City of Country Club Hills.  I was

15 suing the City of Country Club Hills, an EEOC claim for

16 discrimination, a wage claim because they did not pay me

17 monies that they owed me after the case.

18                 They ruined my reputation in the City of

19 -- in south suburban Cook County with other black mayors

20 and managers where I can't get employment.  I don't want

21 a video dep because it is permanent and I believe that

22 they are trying to damage my reputation.

23           THE COURT:  Now, is that case still pending?

24 Has it been settled?
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5

1           MS. WASHINGTON:  Uh, it is still --

2           THE COURT:  Still in the courts?

3           MS. WASHINGTON:  Yes.

4           MR. BODDICKER:  Judge, her case is gone.  She

5 filed an EEOC complaint.  It was dismissed.  She has not

6 refiled.  The time has lapsed.  She's got no ongoing

7 litigation.  We want a video deposition.

8           THE COURT:  Do you have case law that states

9 that you are entitled to it even over her objection?

10           MR. BODDICKER:  It's in my motion, Judge.

11           MS. KURTZ:  And, your Honor, if I can just add

12 for the court for reference in terms of historically.  We

13 had subpoenaed the mayor for his deposition and he

14 objected to video.  We agreed to a protective order and I

15 believe even in that --

16           THE COURT:  What was the nature of the

17 protective order?

18           MS. KURTZ:  That we wouldn't use the video and

19 I want to say we ended up not -- It was an associate that

20 handled it so don't quote me on it but I want to say we

21 ended up not using the video or the video was pointed to

22 the ceiling and there was some agreement that we wouldn't

23 use it.

24                 No, actually I take that back, your

6

1 Honor.  For the entire time of the deposition the mayor

2 sat with his hands over his face but we did agree

3 pursuant to the protective order that we would not use

4 the video in any circumstance.  So there is sort of

5 precedent in this case, you know.  I have attempted to

6 work this out with defense counsel.

7                 He did literally sit with his hands over

8 his face the entire time of the deposition.

9           MS. WASHINGTON:  It is also said in the

10 transcript, your Honor, where Attorney Kurtz said we

11 could point the camera in a different direction, we can

12 continue, she is here but he did not want to continue.

13           THE COURT:  Let me see.  I have not had this

14 come up before.  Petition for rule to show cause.

15           MS. WASHINGTON:  So I have some exh bits if you

16 want to see where we agreed to the 14th.  I did come on

17 the 14th.

18           THE COURT:  That is fine.  It seems like the

19 main issue right now is whether or not I can force a

20 video deposition against the wishes of the deponent.

21                 Now, why do you want a video dep?

22           MR. BODDICKER:  She is incredibly hostile to

23 the City, Judge.  I can let you listen to some of the

24 messages she's left for me right now basically stating

7

1 that, how dare you subpoena me for a deposition.

2           THE COURT:  What does it matter?  I mean why do

3 you want the video?

4           MR. BODDICKER:  Because we believe the video is

5 clearly going to show she is not a credible witness, hat

6 she is --

7           THE COURT:  This isn't an evidence dep though,

8 right?

9           MS. KURTZ:  It's not an evidence dep.

10           MR. BODDICKER:  This is not an evidence dep,

11 Judge.  This is a discovery deposition because

12 plaintiff's counsel has identified Miss Washington as

13 somebody with knowledge of discrimination.  Plaintiff's

14 counsel has refused to give me anymore information than

15 that so right now I have absolutely no idea why Miss

16 Washington was named.  Miss Washington was a former Human

17 Resources Director at the City of Country Club Hills.

18           MS. WASHINGTON:  No, I was a generalist.

19           MR. BODDICKER:  In fact, there are several

20 things that I will probably be objecting to if she tries

21 to state them in the deposition based on attorney client

22 privilege.  So it is very important that we take this

23 deposition and that we see her reactions.

24                 As I said, she just stated to you how she

8

1 believes the City is trying to ruin her reputation.  She

2 is incredibly hostile to my client.  We want a video

3 deposition to show her.

4           MS. WASHINGTON:  Your Honor, can I play a voice

5 mail from Mr. Boddicker please?  He has surveillanced my

6 house.  He has sent people to subpoena my house when my

7 20-year old daughter was at home alone.  As soon as she

8 pulled into the driveway, she had some man banging at our

9 front door.  He has since come to our front door.  We

10 have to live in our house with our blinds closed because

11 Boddicker and his crew are surveillancing my home.  It's

12 just absolutely ludicrous at this point.

13                 I know nothing about this case, your

14 Honor, nothing, nothing.  I have nothing to contribute to

15 this case at all, nothing.  This actual case,

16 Lewis-Bystrzycki, precedes me.  I was an employee for six

17 months.

18           THE COURT:  Can we do a quick dep, five minute

19 dep, in the jury room with the court reporter?

20           MR. BODDICKER:  I am not prepared to take her

21 deposition right now, judge.

22           THE COURT:  Well, she doesn't know anything.

23 You're telling me --

24           MR. BODDICKER:  Judge, I have asked --
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9

1           THE COURT:  No, no, don't interrupt me.

2           MR. BODDICKER:  Sure.

3           THE COURT:  Now I have the deponent before me

4 saying I don't know anything about this.  So what is the

5 prejudice in you at least establishing that for the

6 record right now, here and now?

7           MR. BODDICKER:  As long as I have leave to

8 redepose her.

9           THE COURT:  If it turns out that later on down

10 the road that she, in fact, does have information?

11           MR. BODDICKER:  Judge, this is what I have to

12 say.  Plaintiff's counsel, I have asked Dana Lewis

13 whether or not she would --

14           MS. KURTZ:  Dana Lewis?

15           MR. BODDICKER:  Excuse me.  I asked Miss Kurtz

16 whether or not she will just say I don't want to call

17 Miss Washington as a witness in this case.  She has

18 refused to do that.

19           THE COURT:  I would ask you, Counsel.  What is

20 your understanding?

21           MS. KURTZ:  If I can respond, your Honor?

22           THE COURT:  Yes.

23           MS. KURTZ:  So one is, and I don't know if Miss

24 Washington will remember this, there is an email that

10

1 defense counsel produced where they had directed Miss

2 Washington to give notice to the plaintiff that she was

3 on administrative leave.  After we filed this case, they

4 put her on administrative leave.  She is still on

5 administrative leave, they're not letting her back to

6 work.  So that's one --

7           THE COURT:  That is the issue that she was

8 placed on administrative leave on a time and date

9 certain?

10           MR. BODDICKER:  She was placed on

11 administrative leave.

12           MS. WASHINGTON:  I have the email of her being

13 placed on administrative leave.  I also have an email

14 here of me saying to the mayor "Mayor, I know nothing

15 about this."

16           THE COURT:  Would you stipulate to the

17 authenticity, both sides, if this went to trial; would

18 you stipulate to the foundation of this email without

19 requiring this woman's deposition testimony?

20           MS. KURTZ:  We would, judge.

21           THE COURT:  Okay.

22           MS. KURTZ:  That's fine.

23               There is a separate issue of under the case

24 law with respect to sexual harassment retaliation cases.

11

1 One of the ways in which proving motive of discriminatory

2 or retaliatory intent is showing comparatives and how

3 they have treated others.

4                 As your Honor recalls, you have ordered

5 defendants to produce the EEOC charges, the complaints

6 and lawsuits filed by other individuals.  I still don't

7 have those documents, including Miss Washington's EEOC

8 charge that she filed.

9           THE COURT:  Miss Washington is telling me that

10 she worked there after your client.

11           MS. WASHINGTON:  Well, it preceded me.

12 Everything in terms of, you know, filing the charge for

13 harassment preceded me.  I was never included in that,

14 your Honor.

15                 They hired a consultant by the name of

16 Marian Williams who came in and sat with the fire chief

17 and everyone else to investigate the claim.  I was not

18 involved.  I was simply hired as a generalist and that

19 was to manage benefits and payroll and things like that.

20 I was rarely even invited to the meetings.

21                 I do have my EEOC charge here that talks

22 about that I believe the City is just -- They've

23 discriminated against me.  Your Honor, they harass me.  I

24 have been in HR for 25 years, a director for 15.  I am a

12

1 credible person.  I have a Master's Degree.  I am a

2 respons ble individual so I am not sure what is going on

3 here.

4           MS. KURTZ:  So I mean, your Honor, as much as I

5 obviously don't want to bring other people into the case

6 in terms of witnesses but the case law provides that in

7 terms of proving motive of retaliatory intent or

8 discriminatory intent that we can point to others.  She

9 was working there at the time towards the end of the

10 retaliation before they put Miss Lewis-Bystrzycki on

11 administrative leave.  Miss Lewis-Bystrzycki does have a

12 retaliation claim for the complaints of gender

13 discrimination as well as a retaliation claim under the

14 Illinois (inaudible) Protection Act.

15                 So that's where the comparatives would be

16 relevant in terms of how others were treated.  If other

17 people were retaliated against, that's certainly evidence

18 that we can present at trial or, you know, we should at

19 least be entitled to discovery on.

20           THE COURT:  So you are going to be stuck giving

21 a deposition.  I hate to tell you this but you are going

22 to be stuck giving a deposition.

23                 Now, if this were an evidence dep, I

24 would require her to sit and be filmed.  It isn't.  You
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13

1 though instead of having a film may have your client

2 there because you're probably wanting to show your client

3 what's going on.

4           MR. BODDICKER:  My client knows exactly how she

5 is going to react.  She is so hostile to the City and I

6 want that to be shown, judge, how hostile she is to the

7 City and to everybody involved.

8           THE COURT:  Yeah, and for a trial if it is an

9 evidence dep go for it; but this is a discovery

10 deposition for purposes of obtaining evidence.  If you

11 want your client there, you may have your client there,

12 you have that right anyway.  If she does not want a video

13 dep, bring your client instead.  Just for the record if

14 this was an evidence dep I would require it.

15           MS. KURTZ:  Thank you, your Honor.

16           MS. WASHINGTON:  Thank you.

17           THE COURT:  So when can we do this?

18           MS. WASHINGTON:  Did you say we can do this

19 now, your Honor?

20           THE COURT:  No, because it is going to be a

21 while.

22           MS. WASHINGTON:  That is fine.  We can set up a

23 time.  Thank you.

24           THE COURT:  So what time?

14

1           MR. BODDICKER:  How about within the next three

2 weeks sometime?

3           MS. KURTZ:  That's fine.

4           THE COURT:  Within the next 21 days.  So you

5 all will be in touch as to the exact time.  We will go

6 from there.

7           MS. WASHINGTON:  And once again, your Honor,

8 thank you and I know nothing about this case so he is

9 going to get the same result.  Thank you.

10           THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.

11                           (Miss Washington excused.)

12                 Now, I thank you both for your patience

13 in giving me time to look at everything again.

14                 After reviewing everything, I am granting

15 the second motion to compel regarding plaintiff's request

16 for a forensic examination regarding those computers in

17 the classroom at station one, the middle office across

18 from the bathroom at station one, the paramedic writing

19 room computer at station two and the computer in the

20 hallway by the engineer's office at station two.

21                 After reading the depositions, I have

22 concluded this isn't a fishing expedition.  The plaintiff

23 was not wholly unable to come up with (inaudible) that

24 she witnessed fellow employees watching porn.  The

15

1 problem is according to her the porn watching was

2 pervasive.  So, for example, every time she would worked

3 with Larry, I don't know how to pronounce it, Giseppe --

4 Giseppe?

5           MR. BODDICKER:  Gillespie.

6           THE COURT:  (Continuing)  -- he was watching

7 porn.  And that applied to Mr. Marcus 65 percent of the

8 time and Mr. Boyd 50 percent of the time.  Again that is

9 according to her testimony.

10                 When I couple that testimony with the

11 defendants' witnesses' testimony that they admit

12 witnessing firefighters watching porn or watching porn

13 themselves, I conclude that the forensic examination

14 requested may lead to discoverable evidence and does not

15 constitute a fishing expedition.

16           MS. KURTZ:  Thank you, your Honor.

17           THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else?

18           MS. KURTZ:  Yes.  There are two other motions

19 up for today and I didn't want to burden the court with

20 filing another motion but there are other issues in the

21 second motion to compel that defendants have not complied

22 with so I will address that separately.

23                 And, your Honor, you know, I don't

24 typically file motion for sanction after motion for

16

1 sanction.  And I don't think it is Mr. Boddicker, I

2 actually think it is his client but he has an obligation

3 to make sure that his client is complying with the

4 court's orders.

5                 We had filed a motion to bar the --

6 motion to strike the defendants' expert.  I don't know if

7 you have that motion.  We did give courtesy copies.

8           THE COURT:  No, but go ahead.

9           MS. KURTZ:  And I can certainly give the court

10 my copy, essentially --  And I can do that, your Honor.

11 Just ignore my scr bble on it.

12           THE COURT:  Just give me the gist of it.

13           MS. KURTZ:  Yes, exactly.

14                 So you entered an order requiring

15 disclosures back in 2015.  The defendants did not

16 disclose any experts at that time or file a motion for an

17 extension.  They have never filed a motion to extend the

18 expert discovery disclosure.  We did disclose experts

19 within that time frame.  This motion, the motion of our

20 defense expert, has been pending since June of 2016.

21 Defendant has never filed a response nor moved for leave

22 to disclose an economic expert.

23                 They belatedly requested a psychological

24 evaluation under the guise of that they needed that for
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1 purposes of the mediation.  If you recall, the parties

2 agreed to a private mediation.  I agreed to that

3 psychological evaluation even though it was beyond the

4 expert disclosure because under the assumption that we

5 were proceeding in good faith to legitimately talk about

6 settlements.  It was not in good faith.  Despite that I

7 am not seeking to bar the defendants' psychological

8 expert.

9                 There has been --  Even prior to

10 defendants disclosing, belatedly disclosing an economic

11 expert they filed two motions, at least two motions to

12 move the trial date.

13                 Your order of May 25th, 2015 indicates

14 the expert disclosures by September 4th, 2015.

15 Defendants did not comply with that order.  They have not

16 complied with numerous orders of this court.

17                 They produced a report May 12, 2016

18 without leave of court, without seeking to extend the

19 time frame and, judge, it's just -- it's too late.  We

20 are almost done with the wrapping up of the fact

21 discovery on these issues that have been subject to our

22 motions to compel, now which is the second and third

23 motions.  We're done with expert discovery and then

24 defendants belatedly produce.

18

1           THE COURT:  Counsel, what is the problem?

2           MR. BODDICKER:  There is no problem, judge.

3 What counsel I think basically misrepresented to the

4 court is that we never disclosed our expert.  There is an

5 expert disclosure on February 16th of 2013 where we

6 disclosed James McGovern.  That's the expert at issue.

7           MS. KURTZ:  Can I see what you produced to the

8 court?

9           MR. BODDICKER:  And that's not a complete copy,

10 judge, because it is 126 pages long; but if you will look

11 at that disclosure on February 16th of 2013 --

12           MS. KURTZ:  No, it's 2016.

13           MR. BODDICKER:  Excuse me.  Yes, the 16th,

14 February 26th. (Sic) And when counsel says oh, yes, we

15 filed motions to continue, this case originally had a

16 trial date in October of 2015.  She's referring way back

17 to then.  At that point in time when that trial got

18 continued we had a big discussion about all the expert

19 discovery that still needed to be done and that we were

20 disclosing experts and you said we could do that.

21           THE COURT:  So this is your expert,

22 Mr. McGovern?

23           MR. BODDICKER:  Mr. McGovern is the expert at

24 issue.  I disclosed him in February of this year.  The

19

1 depositions, you know, the schedule had been continued to

2 be extended.  I offered, I've got emails where I offered

3 his deposition and counsel said oh, no, it's too late, we

4 can't do that.

5                 The bottom line is our economic expert,

6 Mr. McGovern, if you look at his disclosure, I mean the

7 difference in what he says compared to their economic

8 expert is over a million dollars difference.  It would be

9 highly prejudicial to keep us from having Mr. McGovern

10 who was timely disclosed and who was timely offered for a

11 deposition, just the fact that counsel didn't want to

12 take it, you know, and now is trying to say no it's too

13 late, it's just wrong.

14           MS. KURTZ:  Your Honor, if I can just briefly

15 respond to that.

16                 So this is what he gave me in February of

17 2016.  No report.  There's no opinions in here.  It

18 doesn't even comply with 213.  The report he actually

19 produced was May 12th, 2016 so several months after.  And

20 again without filing a motion to extend, without leave of

21 court, not in compliance with this court's orders and

22 it's just further delaying this case.

23                 And, your Honor, the prejudice to my

24 client, they have put her on administrative leave.

20

1 She's not --  With pay but she is not getting overtime.

2 She doesn't get training.  That is essentially --

3           THE COURT:  But we aren't even done with

4 discovery.  You still are looking at computers.  We are

5 nowhere near done with discovery.  So this doesn't make

6 any difference to the trial.  He disclosed it in

7 February.  I am going to deny the motion to strike.

8           MS. KURTZ:  Thank you.

9           THE COURT:  Okay.  So next?

10           MS. KURTZ:  So next is our third motion for

11 sanctions pursuant to Rule 219 based on defendants'

12 repeated violations of the court's orders and most

13 recently the June 24, 2016 order.  Do you have a copy of

14 that?

15           THE COURT:  I have it.

16           MS. KURTZ:  Excellent.  Thank you, your Honor.

17                 And mainly, if you look at page four of

18 the motion, it sort of sets out the history with respect

19 to that particular order of June 24, 2016.

20                 We initially requested electronic

21 documents, ESI in our request for production.  On July

22 21st, 2015, I had requested emails to and from the chief

23 and other supervisors.  There are also other requests

24 regarding electronic discovery.
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1                 On August 6th, 2015 I requested the

2 electronic nada (phonetic) forms of all the documents

3 because there are emails -- as you know, there are emails

4 that have not been produced or attachments that have not

5 been produced.  We were forced to file a motion to compel

6 production of the emails responsive to the discovery

7 request.  After the hearing on the motion, the court

8 granted the motion in part saying we were to provide the

9 page line.  We complied with that order.

10                 And then the hearing was continued to

11 November 2nd where the court ordered defendants' counsel

12 to ensure and report that electronic documents and emails

13 have been searched.  That was not done.

14                 November 12th I provided to defense

15 counsel a list of search terms and emails.  There has

16 been no response to that.

17                 On January 26, 2016 I sent a 201(k)

18 letter requesting compliance with plaintiff's email

19 search terms.  As a consequence of defendants' failure to

20 comply, I requested that defendants should be required to

21 pay for the forensic examination.  That's all part of the

22 second motion to compel and for sanctions.

23                 On April 22nd, 2016 you granted the

24 second motion to compel and for sanctions in substantial

22

1 part and ordered, with respect to this issue, defendants

2 to confer with their IT person and plaintiff's counsel

3 and forensic expert within seven days.  It was a bit

4 after seven days but we did have a telephone call with a

5 forensic expert and their IT person could not answer any

6 of the forensic expert's questions.  We then sent a list

7 of questions in writing asking them to answer it because

8 the person that they had on the phone could not answer

9 those questions.  They failed to respond to that list of

10 questions.

11                 We again had to address it with the court

12 and then on --  The court ordered the defendants to

13 comply and answer the questions by July 8th.  That's the

14 June 24th, 2016 order and again defendants failed to

15 comply.  The last time we were in you asked him to

16 actually answer them.  We did finally get answers.

17                 But this has cost my client and my firm

18 money.  Having the forensic expert sit on the phone, not

19 getting any answers, having to --  So there is prejudice.

20           THE COURT:  Is there anything outstanding at

21 this point regarding what I had ordered in that order as

22 far as --  Is there anything that they haven't done up to

23 this point?

24           MS. KURTZ:  They did answer the --  As to this

23

1 issue of answering those questions, he did finally send

2 me answers and I have forwarded that to our forensic

3 expert.

4                 There is one question on, the reference

5 to a dummy computer which this is the first time we are

6 hearing of it so I did get a response on that.

7                 I mean what I would --  If the court is

8 not going to --  I mean really what we are asking for,

9 your Honor, this is what I set forth in the sanctions

10 requested, you know, if the court is going to -- if we

11 are going to proceed with the forensic expert, I would

12 request that my fees in terms of having to file these

13 motions be granted and we can proceed and try to get

14 discovery answers and get discovery finalized so that we

15 can get this case to trial.  That would be my request at

16 this point.

17           THE COURT:  Counsel.

18           MR. BODDICKER:  And, judge, we would absolutely

19 object to her fees for anything related to what we have

20 disclosed to her that the -- All the emails had been

21 disclosed.  It's right in Chief Agpawa's deposition which

22 she took in 2015.  He affirmatively said, no, I have

23 disclosed everything that's been requested of me and I

24 have told counsel that.  For her to sit here and say, oh,

24

1 we didn't respond to that?  Not true.

2                 With respect to her wanting to seek

3 additional forensic evidence, why should we be --  We

4 should not have to pay for that.  We have disclosed

5 thousand of pages of documents in this case, everything

6 that has been requested we have responded to; and I

7 just -- I don't understand why she is thinking, oh, there

8 is something else out there.

9                 And, you know, she says as you know,

10 judge, there are things that haven't been produced.  What

11 do you mean as you know?  Where, where is that?  I don't

12 know that there is anything that hasn't been produced.

13           MS. KURTZ:  And that is going to be the subject

14 of another motion for sanctions where defendants have not

15 complied with the court's order on the second motion to

16 compel, judge.  They haven't answer the 6th and 7th

17 document request.  They have not searched their emails

18 which in cases nowadays you've got to search emails.

19 They have not done a search of any electronic or emails

20 responsive to the discovery.  This was addressed in our

21 second motion to compel and for sanctions, which is why

22 the court ordered --

23           THE COURT:  Well, regarding this first motion

24 to compel, the one that we're arguing right now, not the
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1 one contained in your second motion to compel, your

2 motion for sanctions I should say --

3           MS. KURTZ:  Yes, so this is that -- and I'm

4 sorry, your Honor -- this is actually the third motion

5 for sanctions.

6           THE COURT:  I am going to deny it.  It is

7 without prejudice.  If due to your forensic analysis you

8 discover that there are weighty documents that should

9 have been produced that weren't, I will reconsider

10 sanctions.

11           MS. KURTZ:  Thank you.

12           MR. BODDICKER:  And to be clear, judge, the

13 forensic analysis that you have authorized is for them to

14 look at those computers, those specific computers in the

15 fire department, related to pornography.

16           MS. KURTZ:  Well, there are two separate

17 things.  There is the pornography and then there is the

18 email and electronic documents.

19           THE COURT:   Yes.  That's what I am discussing,

20 the email and electric documents.

21                 If they find, you know, emails that are,

22 I would say weighty, a weighty email, then I am going to

23 reconsider a motion for sanctions.

24           MR. BODDICKER:  And, judge, here is the

26

1 question.  How is she allowed to do any sort of forensic

2 examination of emails?  Other than on those computers, is

3 that what we're talking about?

4           THE COURT:  I have already ordered that.  I am

5 not going to revisit that at this point.  That is

6 pursuant to my --

7           MS. KURTZ:  Yes, the second motion to compel.

8 And essentially, judge, we were supposed to work out a

9 protocol.  And that has been part of this attempt to work

10 out a protocol of getting these questions answered so the

11 forensic expert can actually propose a protocol knowing

12 what the environment, the computer environment, is like.

13 So he can do that now with respect to the answers that we

14 finally got.

15           MR. BODDICKER:  To give me something so we can

16 have a protocol as far as what they want to search?

17           MS. KURTZ:  I mean what is typical in ESI

18 cases is the forensic expert comes up with protocol as to

19 how they are going to search the emails.

20           MR. BODDICKER:  And, judge, just to be clear

21 here, too, because counsel has not even mentioned this.

22 The City has old email servers that were only in, you

23 know, in operation for a few years.  Other than that it

24 was all in the cloud (phonetic) out in, I think, it was

27

1 Comcast which counsel has already subpoenaed their

2 documents.  So I'm not sure exactly --  Are we looking at

3 these old servers, is that what the forensic expert is

4 going to be doing?

5           THE COURT:  I ordered this before --

6           MS. KURTZ:  Yes.

7           THE COURT:  (Continuing) -- in conjunction with

8 a previous motion to compel.

9           MR. BODDICKER:  What you ordered, judge, was

10 for our IT people to talk with their IT people which we

11 did; and we answered every single question that her

12 forensic expert asked, you know, which is exactly the

13 opposite of what counsel just told you but it's true and

14 then they put together the list of questions which we

15 have responded to.

16           MS. KURTZ:  So, judge, what I would propose at

17 this point.  Let me get him the protocol from the

18 forensic expert.  If there is an issue, we can notice up

19 a motion before your Honor.  But maybe, I don't know if

20 Mr. Boddicker has seen computer protocol forensic

21 examinations before, so maybe that's the stopping point,

22 I don't know.

23           MR. BODDICKER:  Well, I certainly haven't seen

24 one from you.

28

1           MS. KURTZ:  Well, because we have been trying

2 to get these questions answered.

3           THE COURT:  Okay.  So you're going to have a

4 201(k) with your tech people so they can consult each

5 other on that.

6           MS. KURTZ:  Thank you.

7                 Do you want to set a status?

8           THE COURT:  Yes.

9                 Within three weeks time you are going to

10 get that witness's deposition.

11           MR. BODDICKER:  That is Velda Washington.  We

12 still have my expert's deposition, Mr. McGovern.  We

13 still have plaintiff's husband, Mr. Bystrzycki, who has

14 not been taken yet.

15           MS. KURTZ:  No, his deposition was taken.

16 You're ta king about Corey Patience (phonetic), the son

17 who was in -- he was in the Marine Corp.

18           MR. BODDICKER:  Mr. Bystrzycki hasn't been

19 taken yet.  We had it set and then it was canceled.

20           THE COURT:  You guys will double check.  I want

21 to keep this on a shorter leash.

22           MS. KURTZ:  A shorter leash.

23           THE COURT:  Okay, thirty days.

24           MR. BODDICKER:  Thirty days at what time,
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1 judge?

2           THE COURT:  Pick the day and my clerk will give

3 you the time.

4                        (Which were all the proceedings

5                        had on this date.)

6

7

8

9

10
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1 STATE OF ILLINOIS  )

                   )  ss:

2 COUNTY OF C O O K  )

3

4

5              I, Linda K. Madison, a Certified Shorthand

6 Reporter, do hereby certify that I reported in shorthand

7 the proceedings had at the above-entitled cause and that

8 the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of my

9 shorthand notes so taken as aforesaid and contains all

10 the proceedings had at the aforementioned hearing before

11 the Honorable BRIGID MARY McGRATH.

12

13

14

                       Certified Shorthand Reporter

15                        License #084-000970
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EXHIBIT 1 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
2017 12:    20/   1/20/2017 12:12 PM

-0099162012-L-009916
CALENDAR: U

PAGE 1 of 7
CIRCUIT COURT OF

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LAW DIVISION

CLERK DOROTHY BROWN
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT – LAW DIVISION 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 

 

  v. 

 

No.   2012 L 009916 

 

CITY OF COUNTRY CLUB HILLS, CARL 

PYCZ, JOSEPH ELLINGTON, and ROGER 

AGPAWA, 

 

          Honorable Brigid Mary McGrath 

 

    Defendants. 

 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY MOTION TO PRESERVE ESI AND  

IMAGING BASED ON EVIDENCE OF SPOLIATION 

 

Plaintiff  DENA  LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI,  through  her  undersigned  counsel, 

respectfully moves  this Court  to order  the  immediate  imaging of  the City of Country 

Club Hills’  email server and google emails for the Country Club Hills Fire Department 

to preserve the data based on evidence of spoliation. In support of this Motion, Plaintiff 

states as follows:  

1. On  August  31,  2016,  this  Court  granted  Plaintiff’s  Second  Motion  to 

Compel  and  for  Sanctions,  and  ordered  the  forensic  imaging  of  certain  Fire  Station 

computers.  

2. Immediately  following  the Court’s  order  granting  the  forensic  imaging, 

Defendants had someone “completely” “wipe” the hard drives and reload the operating 

system of the very same computers the Court ordered be imaged. Defendants did this 

in a deliberate attempt to destroy evidence. 
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3. As Plaintiff’s ESI expert explained to the Court:  

I havenʹt written  a  report, your Honor.  I  gave her  a preliminary verbal 

report. I said there’s thousands of Web searches for pornography. It’s all 

over the board. And I also let her know that it appears that they’ve wiped 

the hard drives, reloaded  them, and I gave her  three dates  in which  that 

was completely done, and  that’s a complete wipe, but  the problem was, 

once  the  computers  were  hooked  back  up,  the  server  pushed  down 

profiles  that  had  information  of  the  previous  Web  history  and  the 

searching of pornography.  

 

(2/8/17 Court Transcript at 13.) 

 

4. This  Court  also  ordered  as  part  of  Plaintiff’s  motion  to  compel  that 

Plaintiff’s ESI expert would be allowed access to Defendants’ server and email accounts 

because  Defendants  have  not  complied with  their  discovery  obligations  to  produce 

emails  responsive  to Plaintiff’s discovery  or  even  search  for ESI  or  other documents 

responsive.  

5. Plaintiff has been attempting to get the imaging of Defendants’ server and 

email accounts pursuant to the Court’s order granting Plaintiff’s motion to compel since 

April 2016. Defendants have continually stalled and delayed in the production of their 

ESI and emails, despite the Court’s order compelling the imaging.  

6. In  light  of  recent  evidence  that  Defendants  engaged  in  spoliation 

immediately following the Court’s August 31, 2016 order requiring  imaging of certain 

Fire Department computers, Plaintiff is concerned that Defendants have or will destroy 

other ESI and emails  that are  responsive  to Plaintiff’s discovery  requests  in  this  case, 

despite their ongoing obligations to preserve ESI.  
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7. Plaintiff has  conferred with Plaintiff’s ESI expert, and he  is available on 

Friday, February 17, 2017  to  image  the email  server and google emails  to ensure  that 

they are preserved until the parties can work out the details of a protocol on the search 

terms.  

WHEREFORE,  for  the  above  stated  reasons, Plaintiff  respectfully  requests  this 

Court  to order  the  immediate  imaging of Defendants’ email server and google emails 

on  February  17,  2017  to  ensure  that  the documents  are preserved  and not  subject  to 

Defendants’ destruction, and grant Plaintiff such other relief that is just and equitable.  

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

DENA LEWIS‐BYSTRZYCKI 

 

 

s/Dana L. Kurtz  

           

One of Plaintiff’s Attorneys 

 

Dana L. Kurtz, Esq. (6256245) 

KURTZ LAW OFFICES, LTD. 

32 Blaine Street  

Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

Phone:  630.323.9444 

Facsimile:  630.604.9444 

E‐mail: dkurtz@kurtzlaw.us 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies  that a  true and correct copy of  the above and 

foregoing  PLAINTIFF’S  EMERGENCY  MOTION  TO  PRESERVE  ESI  AND 

IMAGING BASED ON EVIDENCE OF SPOLIATION was served via the Court’s ECF 

system and via email upon the parties designated below on February 16, 2017. 

 

 

Daniel Boddicker    dboddicker@keefe‐law.com     

 

 

              s/Dana L. Kurtz  

______________________________ 

       Dana L. Kurtz 
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